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Rural Initiatives/Planning Advisory Committee Meeting 
 

Friday, December 3, 2021 
1:00 P.M. 

Meeting to be held in-person/electronically. 
 

Agenda 

1. Approval of Agenda 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

2. Approval of the Minutes from August 31, 2021 

3. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 

4. Discussion Paper #4 – Housing and Affordability – Manager of Planning 

5. Community Grant Program Final Report Summary – Manager of Administrative 
Services 

 
6. 2022 Community Grant Program Allocations – Chief Administrative Officer 

7. Correspondence 

8. Date of Next Meeting 

9. Adjournment 
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DRAFT MINUTES 
Rural Initiatives/Planning Advisory Committee Meeting 

 

 

Date: August 31, 2021 
Location: The meeting was held in a hybrid in-person/electronic format with 

Committee Members and staff participating as indicated below. 
Time: 9:00 A.M. 

Attendees: Members of the Rural Initiatives/Planning Advisory Committee 
Councillor Ed Ketchabaw, Chair (in-person) 
Councillor Sally Martyn (electronic) 
Councillor Dominique Giguѐre (in-person) 
Donna Lunn (electronic) 
Warden Tom Marks (in-person) 
       

Elgin County Staff 
Chief Administrative Officer, Julie Gonyou (in-person) 
General Manager of Engineering, Planning & Enterprise, Brian Lima (in-person) 
Manager of Planning, Nancy Pasato (in-person) 
Manager of Administrative Services, Katherine Thompson (in-person) 
Legislative Services Coordinator, Jenna Fentie (in-person) 
Legislatives Services Coordinator, Carolyn Krahn (in-person) 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

 

 
 
 

The Rural Initiatives/Planning Advisory Committee met this 31st day of August, 2021 at 
9:12 A.M. 
 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Moved by: Warden Marks 
Seconded by: Councillor Martyn 
 
Resolved that the agenda be approved as presented. 
 

- Motion Carried. 
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3. Adoption of Minutes 
 

 

 

Moved by: Councillor Giguѐre 
Seconded by: Councillor Martyn 
 
Resolved that the minutes of the previous meeting be adopted. 

- Motion Carried. 

4. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest and the General Nature Thereof 
 

 None. 
  
5. Discussion Paper #3 – Manager of Planning 
 
 The Manager of Planning presented a discussion paper on the Elgin Natural Heritage 

Systems Strategy, Source Water Protection, and Environmental Policy Amendments. 
 
 Moved by: Councillor Martyn 
 Seconded by: Councillor Giguѐre 
 
 RESOLVED THAT the discussion paper be approved as amended;  
 
 THAT it be circulated to the Local Municipal Partners for their review and consideration;  
 
 THAT a public meeting or meetings be held in order to gather feedback from the public; 

and 
 

THAT this feedback be shared with the Committee and Council in order to help 
determine options for implementation. 

 

- Motion Carried. 
 
6. Community Grant Program Updates and 2022 Community Grant Program Launch – 

Manager of Administrative Services 
 
 The Manager of Administrative Services provided an update on the status of festivals, 

events, and programs organized by community services providers and funded by the 
Elgin County Community Grant Program. 

 
 The Manager of Administrative Services also presented the 2022 Community Grant 

Application packages to the Committee for their review and endorsement. 
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 Moved by: Councillor Martyn 
 Seconded by: Councillor Giguѐre 

 

 

 

 RESOLVED THAT the August 19th, 2021, report titled, Community Grant Program 
Updates and 2022 Community Grant Program Launch, submitted by the Manager of 
Administrative Services, be received and filed for information; 

 
THAT the modified grant requests be considered after submission of the grant recipients’ 
final reports; 
 
THAT staff be directed to request the return of grant funds from events that have been 
cancelled; and 
 
THAT the Community Grant Program application packages Community Services and 
Festivals and Events be approved and that staff proceed with implementation of the 
2022 process beginning on September 1, 2021. 

- Motion Carried. 

7. Correspondence 
 
 None. 

 
8. New Business 
  
 None. 
 
9. Date of Next Meeting 
 

The Committee will meet again on September 14, 2021 at 1:00 P.M. 
 

 

 

10.  Adjournment 
 

 Moved by: Councillor Martyn 
 Seconded by: Councillor Giguѐre 

 
Resolved that the meeting adjourn at 9:59 A.M. 

- Motion Carried. 
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 ______________________________  ______________________________ 
    Julie Gonyou,     Ed Ketchabaw,  
   Chief Administrative Officer/Clerk.           Chair.  

6



 

1 
 

Discussion Paper #4 
County of Elgin Official Plan 5 Year Review 

 
Housing and  
Affordability  
 
November, 2021 
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Executive Summary 
As part of the County’s Official Plan 5-Year Review process, several key topics were 
identified. These identified topics warrant a larger review and analysis.  
 
Affordable housing is a broad term which encompasses a range of housing types. It 
includes both low-cost market housing for homeowners and renters, and non-market 
housing available at subsidised rates. The County is seeing a stronger demand for a 
larger variety of housing types and sizes to meet the diverse range and needs of 
residents and workers.  
 
The discussion paper will look at Provincial and local policies that refer to affordable 
housing, and what policies and tools have been implemented in surrounding 
municipalities. The paper will also review a range of planning and financial tools that are 
available to encourage the creation of affordable housing.  
 
When reviewing this document, questions to ask include:  

• How can the County encourage more affordable housing units? 
• Is the County willing to invest monies in incentivizing affordable housing?  
• What tools and policies ensure affordable housing are the best fit for the County?  
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Introduction 
An Official Plan is a legal statutory planning document required by the province that 
describes a municipality’s land-use strategy. The County of Elgin’s Official Plan includes 
the vision, goals and policy directions of the County, as established by the community, 
and provides guidance for land use planning decisions including: 
 
• locations for settlement areas, agricultural lands, and natural heritage;  
• when and in what order parts of our communities will grow; and 
• protection for agricultural, mineral and environmental resources. 
 
The purpose of an Official Plan 5-Year Review update is to ensure that the community 
vision/values, directions, policies and actions in the Plan reflect changes and meet the 
needs of the community for the future, and to review for consistency with the Provincial 
Policy Statement.  
 
Through the public and surveys responses, and stakeholder discussions, several key 
topics were identified. These identified topics warrant a larger review to understand the 
current issue, review the background and history, provide a summary of what provincial 
and neighbouring municipality policy and /or practices exist, and provide possible 
recommendations for potential policy changes. This discussion paper will be circulated 
and reviewed by the public, stakeholders and local municipalities, and comments and 
feedback on this report will be solicited.  Recommendations stemming from this report 
and feedback received will result in draft policy changes to the County Official Plan.  
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Housing and Affordability - Introduction 
Housing is a fundamental human need. The challenges associated with providing 
housing, and people accessing housing, has grown over the last decade. The challenge 
is twofold – ensuring adequate supply, and ensuring affordability. As housing prices and 
rents have risen faster than household incomes, coupled with insufficient supply of 
certain types of housing, this is creating a widening affordability gap. 
 
Affordable housing is a broad term which encompasses a range of housing types. It 
includes both low-cost market housing for homeowners and renters, and non-market 
housing available at subsidised rates. Providing affordable housing in a community 
means that families and individuals of all income levels and lifestyles can find 
suitable and adequate places to live without spending a disproportionate percentage 
of their income on housing.  
 
Based on a definition from the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC), to 
be affordable, a household should not spend more than 30 percent of their gross 
income on shelter costs. This definition has also been used within the Provincial Policy 
Statement (PPS). Municipalities must be consistent with the PPS in their land use 
planning and development decisions.   
 
The County is seeing a stronger demand for a larger variety of housing types and sizes 
to meet the diverse range and needs of residents and workers. The PPS recognizes the 
importance of accommodating for a variety of housing types by ensuring adequate land 
supply, locating housing where infrastructure and services are available or planned, and 
allow infill and intensification to occur. The County’s Official Plan also recognizes the 
importance of increasing the inventory of residential units and the opportunities for first-
time homeowners by providing for a mix of housing types.  
 
Based on information from 2016 Statistics Canada, the current housing stock in the 
County is primarily made up of single detached dwellings, which account for 78% of 
housing. About 14% of dwelling units are located in apartment buildings or multi-unit 
buildings (such as duplexes). Approximately 75% of housing in Elgin is owner-occupied 
housing, while 25% of the housing stock is rented.  
 
For the purposes of this report, we will look at tools available to encourage more 
“market” housing, defined as private housing for rent or sale where the price is set in the 
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open market within the County of Elgin. This report will not address options to 
encourage “non-market” housing, generally defined as housing where the price is not 
set by the open market, often subsidized through a variety of ways, including senior 
government support, and often managed by various operators, such as emergency 
housing, public housing run by a level of government, or not-for-profit and co-operative 
housing.  
 
 
  

12



 

7 
 

Provincial Policy, Guidelines & Official Plan Policy  
The Planning Act, and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) 
The Planning Act has a significant impact on the production of housing in a municipality. 
Several sections in the Act relate directly to the provision of housing, particularly 
items such as affordable housing, density, secondary units, and zoning.  
 
The Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) is issued under Section 3 of the Planning Act. 
Under Section 1.0, Building Strong and Healthy Communities, healthy, liveable and safe 
communities are sustained by:  
….b) accommodating an appropriate affordable and market-based range and mix of 
residential types (including single-detached, additional residential units, multi-unit 
housing, affordable housing and housing for older persons), employment (including 
industrial and commercial), institutional (including places of worship, cemeteries and 
long-term care homes), recreation, park and open space, and other uses to meet long-
term needs; 
 
Section 1.4 of the PPS requires planning authorities to provide for an appropriate range 
and mix of housing options and densities to meet projected market-based and 
affordable housing needs of current and future residents of the regional market area by  
establishing and implementing minimum targets for the provision of housing which is 
affordable to low- and moderate-income households and which aligns with applicable 
housing and homelessness plans. However, where planning is conducted by an upper-
tier municipality, the upper-tier municipality in consultation with the lower-tier 
municipalities may identify a higher target(s) which shall represent the minimum 
target(s) for these lower-tier municipalities.  
 
The PPS defines both “affordable housing” and “housing options”, and provides 
direction for municipal policy related to each. In the PPS, “Affordable Housing” means: 

• In the case of ownership housing, the least expensive of: 
o housing for which the purchase price results in annual accommodation 

costs which do not exceed 30 percent of gross annual household income 
for low and moderate-income households; or 

o housing for which the purchase price is at least 10 percent below the 
average purchase price of a resale unit in the regional market area. 

• In the case of rental housing, the least expensive of: 
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o a unit for which the rent does not exceed 30 percent of gross annual 
household income for low and moderate-income households; or  

o a unit for which the rent is at or below the average market rent of a unit in 
the regional market area. 

 
In 2020, the Provincial Policy Statement underwent another round of revisions, including 
those specifically related to housing affordability. This included defining the term 
“housing options” to recognize a greater mix of housing types, including additional 
residential units. Additionally, a 15-year supply of land to accommodate residential 
development, rather than 10-year, was required through the amendments.  
 
As defined by the PPS, “Housing Options” means: 
A range of housing types such as, but not limited to single-detached, semi-detached, 
rowhouses, townhouses, stacked townhouses, multiplexes, additional residential units, 
tiny homes, multi-residential buildings. The term can also refer to a variety of housing 
arrangements and forms such as, but not limited to life lease housing, co-ownership 
housing, co-operative housing, community land trusts, land lease community homes, 
affordable housing, housing for people with special needs, and housing related to 
employment, institutional or educational uses. 
 
Ontario’s Long-Term Affordable Housing Strategy  
In 2010, the province released the Long-Term Affordable Housing Strategy (LTAHS) 
which set out a roadmap to address housing needs by creating a flexible, community-
centered approach to building healthy strong communities.  
 
In 2016, updates to the strategy were introduced, with a vision that “every person has 
an affordable, suitable and adequate home to provide the foundation to secure 
employment, raise a family and build strong communities” (Ontario, 2016). The update 
included the following goals: 

• Develop an appropriate and sustainable supply of housing; 
• Create an equitable, portable system of financial assistance; 
• People-centered, efficient housing programs; 
• Develop an Indigenous Housing Strategy; 
• End homelessness; and 
• Achieve an evidence-informed system. 
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Municipal Tools for Affordable Housing 
The Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (MMAH) developed a handbook to assist 
municipalities in providing information on the planning and financial tools available to 
encourage and support the development of affordable housing in their communities. It 
provides descriptions of the tools and examples of best practices that some 
municipalities have used to increase the range and mix of housing types, to provide 
opportunities for more affordable housing development, and to make the construction of 
affordable housing more financially viable. 

County of Elgin Official Plan (OP) 
The County Official Plan contains various policies on housing and affordable housing.   
 
Policy C1.3 provides goals for the County with regards to housing, including monitoring 
and ensuring that there is a 20 year supply of land for residential development with 
sufficient water and wastewater capacity, ensuring the provision of an appropriate range 
of housing types and densities, encouraging opportunities for mixed use development in 
appropriate locations, encouraging the use of surplus public lands for affordable 
housing, encouraging the development of seniors housing and the provision of 
alternative forms of housing for special needs groups, supporting universal physical 
access, encouraging development and redevelopment at higher densities to maximize 
infrastructure, and encouraging the redevelopment of brownfield properties and 
incentives. 
 
The County Plan also contains policies related specifically to ensuring affordable 
housing (C1.3.3).  The minimum target for the provision of affordable housing is 20%. 
Affordable, as defined by the PPS and the County OP is: 

- housing for which the purchase price results in annual accommodation costs 
which do not exceed 30 percent of gross annual household income for low- and 
moderate-income households; or 

- housing for which the purchase price is at least 10 percent below the average 
purchase price of a resale unit in the regional market area. 

- in the case of rental housing, the least expensive of a unit for which the rent does 
not exceed 30 percent of gross annual household income for low- and moderate-
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income households, or a unit for which the rent is at or below the average market 
rent of a unit in the regional market area. 

 

Housing and Homelessness Needs Assessment for St. Thomas and Elgin 
County (2013) and Long-Term St. Thomas-Elgin Affordable & Social Housing 
Strategy (2018) 
The 2013 Housing and Homelessness Needs Assessment for St. Thomas and Elgin 
County is a 10-year Housing and Homelessness Plan which details the long-term vision 
for the provision of housing and homelessness services, and includes an assessment of 
current and future housing needs in service areas, provides objectives and targets related 
to housing needs, a description of the measures proposed to meet the objectives and 
targets, and a description of how progress will be measured.   

Several land use planning recommendations were provided in the report, including 
permitting additional residential units, OP policy that supports the development of new 
affordable rental housing, advocating for commitment from municipal and provincial 
governments, and school boards, for a more flexible approach to utilizing publicly owned 
lands for affordable housing, and increasing the number of rent supplements available. 

The 2018 Strategy was developed to increase affordable housing supply to meet 
projected need. In addition, this strategy looked at how the St. Thomas and area 
municipalities within Elgin County can preserve the existing supply of social and 
supportive housing. Recommendations for Elgin County included: 

• Continue to use the PPS` definition within its existing planning policies so that 
they conform with provincial policies, and also encourage local municipalities to 
adopt the PPS’ definition of affordable housing;  

• Area municipalities should implement an Affordable Housing Community 
Improvement Plan for areas that are appropriate for new multi-residential 
developments such as villages, settlement areas etc.;  

• Area municipalities should provide a waiver or grant for the development 
charges required by eligible affordable housing developments; 

• Area municipalities should implement a 20-year Property Tax Increment 
Financing program for eligible affordable housing developments;  

• Area municipalities should explore the feasibility of creating an affordable 
housing trust fund to provide capital funding to eligible developments; 

• To help promote the creation of second units, area municipalities should 
consider providing modest capital funding grants (under $25,000 per unit) to 
interested and suitable home owners; 

16



 

11 
 

- Area municipalities within the County create municipal housing facilities by-laws to 
provide incentives for future affordable housing developments;  

- Area municipalities should amend their Official Plans to define and permit second 
units in single detached, semi-detached and townhouse units.;  

- The zoning by-laws for area municipalities should outline where second units can 
be created and to outline appropriate development standards for second units;  

- A monitoring or registration program should be established so that area 
municipalities can monitor the number and location of legal second units; 

- To help generate awareness and interest among homeowners, it is recommended 
that area municipalities create an education program that promotes the creation of 
second units in newly built and existing dwellings; 

- Area municipalities should explore the conditions in which it would permit garden 
suites if they currently do not a permitted use within their respective zoning by-
laws. For municipalities that do contain provisions regarding garden suites, it is 
recommended that they be updated to conform to Section 39 of the Planning Act; 

- The County and Area Municipalities should strengthen their affordable housing 
targets to promote a greater variety of ownership dwelling types and tenure;  

- Area municipalities should complete the outstanding components of the municipal 
assessment report that is required to implement Inclusionary Zoning policies. In 
particular, this work should focus on the potential impact that such policies would 
have on the housing market and local home builders; and  

- Area municipalities should amend their respective Official Plans and Zoning Bylaw 
to implement the inclusionary zoning policies and standards as identified in 
provincial legislation. 

 

Elgin County Housing & Homelessness Needs Assessment (2021) 
The Housing and Homelessness Needs Assessment Report was commissioned by the 
West Elgin Community Health Centre (WECHC) on behalf of the Dutton Dunwich West 
Elgin Housing Stability Coalition and funded by St. Thomas Elgin Social Services. The 
goal of the report is to better understand the short, medium, and long-term needs for 
housing and homelessness in the rural municipalities of Elgin County, Ontario.  

A summary of the policy recommendations stemming from the report include the 
following: 

• Include a requirement for affordable housing as a percentage of development in 
municipal Official Plans. Ensure ‘affordability’ is defined. A specific target of 20% of 
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future development including affordable housing become a standard target across 
municipalities; 

• Amend zoning by-laws to support housing supply by increasing density and multi-
unit residential permissions as of right, and reduce parking requirements to lower 
development costs and increase the amount of land available for affordable 
dwelling units on a site;  

• Support and promote the creation of Second Units for new and existing 
development as-of-right;  

• Explore municipal incentives to support the creation of affordable housing, such as 
capital funding and grants, development fee waivers/exemptions, leveraging 
municipal land, and fast-tracking planning approvals; and  

• Develop a policy to review municipal and County land for housing suitability prior 
to selling it on the general market.  

Other Service and Community recommendations include advocating for increased 
funding to support both urban and rural areas, exploring opportunities to increase rural 
transit and introduce virtual supports, use planning and legislation tools and community 
engagement, communication, and education to address community concerns with 
affordable housing/barriers, approach community groups and non-profits to see if they 
have land suitable for housing, and work with community organizations to develop 
affordable housing proposals for specific sites to prepare for future proposal calls for 
government funding. 

 
Adjacent Counties/Municipalities  
The policies related to housing and affordability were reviewed for adjacent counties, 
such as City of London, Oxford County, Middlesex County, and Chatham-Kent. 
   
City of London 
The London Plan contains multiple policies related to ensuring housing affordability, 
including a target of 25% of new housing is to be affordable to low- and moderate-income 
households. Secondary plans and larger residential development proposals should 
include a 25% affordable housing component through a mix of housing types and sizes, 
and 40% of new housing units within a secondary plan, and lands exceeding five 
hectares in lands outside of any secondary plan, should be in forms other than single 
detached dwellings. Other tools include building height and densities which may be 
increased, in conformity with bonus zoning provisions, to support the provision of 
affordable housing in planning and development proposals. 

18



 

13 
 

The City has also adopted an Affordable Housing Community Improvement Plan (CIP) 
which includes a Development Loan Program that provides financial assistance to off-set 
the up-front costs associated with the development of new affordable housing, and an 
Additional Residential Unit Loan Program, that provides financial assistance to off-set 
costs associated with creating new additional residential units and to improve the 
affordability of home ownership. 

Oxford County 
Oxford County’s Official Plan sets a minimum target of 20 percent of all housing in the 
County which is to be affordable housing. The policies of the Plan are designed to 
provide opportunities to develop a variety of housing required to meet the needs of 
County residents including ownership and rental housing, affordable housing and 
specialized housing. Other policies in the OP include facilitating the creation of new 
dwelling units through development and residential intensification, designating sufficient 
lands on a City-wide basis, for municipal unit accommodation to meet projected housing 
needs, and monitoring benchmarks for affordability on an annual basis and during each 
5-year review of this Plan.  

There is no CIP for Affordable Housing in Oxford County at this time.  

Middlesex County 
Middlesex County’s Official Plan sets a minimum target of 20 percent of all housing in the 
County which is to be affordable housing. In the case of ownership, affordable housing is 
considered to be homes where the purchase price is at least 10 percent below the 
average purchase price of a resale unit in the regional market area. The County will 
monitor the prices on an annual basis and adjust the OP as necessary. All local 
municipalities are encouraged to develop affordable housing targets that are generally 
consistent with the County’s targets. 

There is no CIP for Affordable Housing in Middlesex County at this time.  

Municipality of Chatham Kent 
The Municipality has established the following targets related to affordable housing:  

- 25% affordable housing, including 2% for supportive housing; and  
- 5% accessible housing, fully modified to meet Chatham-Kent Facility Accessibility 

Design (FAD) requirements.  

The Municipality encourages the provision of affordable housing through supporting 
increased residential densities, ensuring a full range of housing choices and land supply, 
allowing for intensification and redevelopment, streamlining the planning process, and 
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considering innovative and alternative residential development standards that facilitate 
affordable housing and a more compact development form.  

There is no CIP for Affordable Housing in Chatham-Kent at this time.  
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Tools and Policy Options for Affordable Housing 
A range of planning and financial tools are available to encourage the creation of 
affordable housing. An overview of these potential tools and policy options is provided 
below.  
 
Secondary Dwelling Units/Garden Suites   
Second units are one of the most inexpensive ways to increase the stock of affordable 
rental housing and integrate affordable housing throughout the community, while 
maintaining neighbourhood character. Second units can provide practical housing 
options to meet specific needs, including increasing housing choices for low- and 
modest-income households, accommodating an aging population who wish to live 
independently but also benefit from the support of having their extended families 
nearby. 
 
Second units – also known as accessory or basement apartments, secondary suites or 
in-law flats – are self-contained residential units with kitchen and bathroom facilities 
within dwellings or within structures accessory to dwellings such as coach houses or 
laneway garages. In many cases, second units provide an important source of 
affordable housing for low and moderate-income households at what are typically some 
of the most affordable rental rates.  
 
The Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing introduced Bill 108, More Homes, More 
Choice Act, 2019 on May 2, 2019. One of the intentions of Bill 108 was to address the 
housing crisis in Ontario by minimizing regulations related to residential development 
through changes to various Acts dealing with the planning process, including reducing 
fees related to development, by reducing the number of services that may be subject to 
development charges and shortening the timelines for the approval of many planning 
applications. The Ministry identified affordable housing as a “fundamental need” and 
additional residential units were identified as one of the least expensive ways to 
increase the supply of affordable housing while maintaining neighbourhood character. 
 
One of the changes to the Planning Act made by Bill 108 was to permit up to two 
additional residential units on properties containing a single detached, semi-detached or 
row house residential dwelling. An additional residential unit is currently permitted (as a 
result of previous changes from Bill 138) in any single detached house, semi-detached 
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house or row house OR in a building ancillary to any single detached house, semi-
detached house or row house. Through changes made by Bill 108, an additional 
residential unit would be permitted in any single detached house, semi-detached house, 
or row house and in an ancillary building. This would allow for a maximum of two 
additional residential units per property, for a total of three units on a property. 
 
These changes to the Planning Act require that Municipal Official Plans and Zoning 
Bylaws must contain provisions permitting additional residential units. This has the 
effect of potentially allowing a total of three dwelling units on the same property – 
subject to applicable provisions in the Ontario Fire Code, Building Code and municipal 
by-laws. 
 
This change will require municipalities to identify appropriate areas for second units 
within both existing developments, as well as in new development areas. Municipalities 
are responsible for determining where second units are appropriate, as well as the 
appropriate standards for second units. Second units can be developed both within 
existing residential communities, or as part of new residential development and must 
comply with any applicable laws such as the Building Code, the Fire Code and property 
standards by-laws. The development of a second unit may require a building permit. 
 
Garden suites, also commonly known as granny flats, are one-unit detached residential 
structures which contain bathroom and kitchen facilities, are designed to be portable, 
and are accessory to the existing residential structure. Garden suites are an affordable 
housing type, in part, because they do not necessarily require the purchase of land as 
they are ancillary to existing dwellings, and are relatively inexpensive to install as they 
are often constructed off-site or made from pre-fabricated materials. Garden suites are 
especially suitable for some groups such as seniors because they provide affordable 
housing and enable older adults to live independently while receiving informal support 
from family members or a caregiver in an independent unit.  Municipalities can pass 
temporary use by-laws authorizing garden suites as a temporary use for up to 20 years. 
Municipalities can also extend the temporary authorization for garden suites by further 
three-year increments, as needed. 
 

Community Improvement Plans 
A Community Improvement Plan (CIP) is a tool that allows a municipality to direct funds 
and implement policy initiatives toward a specifically defined project area. Section 28 of 
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the Planning Act gives municipalities that have enabling policies in their official plans, 
the ability to prepare Community Improvement Plans. Community Improvement Plans 
are intended to encourage revitalization initiatives and/or stimulate development and 
redevelopment. Once implemented, the Plan allows municipalities to provide tax 
assistance, grants or loans to assist in the revitalization of lands and/or buildings within 
the defined Community Improvement Project Area (CIPA).  

Subsection 28(1.1) of the Planning Act provides that “community improvement” includes 
the provision of affordable housing. Municipalities can consider using CIPs to provide 
for grants or loans in relation to the provision of affordable housing within CIP 
project areas. In some instances, loan agreements between municipalities and 
landowners have required that specified properties be maintained as affordable 
housing. Upper-tier municipalities and local municipalities can adopt CIP’s relating to 
affordable housing, and coordination can occur between the upper and local 
municipality by participating in each other's grant or loan programs.  
 
Through Community Improvement Plans, municipalities can focus public attention on 
local priorities and municipal initiatives, target areas in transition or in need of repair, 
rehabilitation and redevelopment, facilitate and encourage community change in a co-
ordinated manner, and stimulate private sector investment through municipal incentive-
based programs. 
 
Examples of tools that can be implemented through CIP’s include:  

• reduction in planning fees, which can reimburse municipal fees for developments 
that meet the definition of affordable housing in the CIP;  

• tax increment grants, which are based on the difference between property taxes 
collected on a property before development and the estimated taxes that will be 
collected after development;  

• deferral of development charges, where applicable;  
• building permit fee deferral, reduction, or exemption; and 
• parking and parkland fee reductions. 

CIPs do not require provincial approval. However, in accordance with the Planning Act, 
municipalities must consult with the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing on the 
preparation of proposed plans, and must provide the Ministry with notice of adoption of 
a CIP. 
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Demolition Control Areas  
Section 33 of the Planning Act allows municipalities the ability to establish demolition 
control areas, which can include both ownership and rental properties, as well as 
properties with less than six units. Once demolition control areas are established, 
landowners must obtain a demolition permit prior to demolishing the whole or any part 
of a residential property within the area. Within demolition control areas, municipalities 
can refuse to issue a demolition permit unless a building permit has been issued to 
erect a new building on the site. This framework can assist a municipality with 
maintaining residential properties, including affordable housing. Demolition control 
areas can encourage owners to maintain viable housing stock. They can also allow 
municipalities to regulate demolition while considering and developing new land use 
policies for an area, such as an area in transition, where it may be appropriate to 
maintain existing affordable housing stock and promote new housing opportunities, 
while also promoting other uses to help revitalize the area. The Municipal Act 2001 
provides authority for municipalities to enact by-laws to regulate the conversion of 
existing residential rental units. 

 

Mixed-Use Development, Increased Density, Conversion of Non-Residential 
Buildings, Minimum and Maximum Development Standards   
Mixed use development is characterized as development that blends two or more uses 
within a single building or buildings, such as residential, commercial, institutional, and/or 
industrial uses. This allowance for multiple land uses to be combined within a single 
development or across a designated area can create new housing opportunities in 
areas where such opportunities may have not previously existed. Mixed use 
developments can promote housing diversity and more compact, walkable 
neighbourhoods that are integrated with key community needs, like commercial and 
service uses. It also has the potential for offering cost savings to developers in the form 
of shared parking arrangements and shared costs for building operation and 
maintenance. An example of mixed-use developments are typically found in the 
downtown of cities and towns, where there may be commercial uses at grade, with 
residential uses behind or above. Encouraging these existing downtown uses to 
diversify, the retention of buildings, or ensuring new development takes the form of 
mixed-use development in local Official Plans can help to provide additional residential 
units in accessible areas.  
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Increasing density through reduced lot or unit size can reduce per unit housing costs 
and provide for more effective use of infrastructure, while still considering compatibility 
with the surrounding area. Increasing density on under-utilized sites can help to 
increase a community’s housing stock, accommodate population growth and increase a 
neighbourhood’s population. Within built-up areas, there may be potential for affordable 
housing above ground level commercial space and for infill development. Building form 
and design can provide more opportunities for affordable housing through alternative 
house forms which can decrease development costs through higher densities. 
Alternative building forms can range from row houses, to triplexes, fourplexes and 
stacked townhouses, to low, mid-range, and high-rise apartments. 
 
Converting non-residential buildings located in suitably designated areas into affordable 
housing by renovating and reusing existing buildings can result in more inclusive 
neighbourhoods, and is generally considered to be more cost-efficient than new 
development, as the building shell is already in place and the site is usually serviced. 
 

By using minimum or maximum standards in local zoning by-laws for residential or 
mixed-use buildings and development, municipalities can provide for more compact 
forms of development that provide more opportunities for affordable housing units. 
Development standards can affect the price of housing construction and can contribute 
to lowering the costs for housing development. More efficient built forms which 
contribute to lower base costs for housing development can be achieved through bylaw 
standards for minimum building height and density. For instance, establishing minimum 
density and height standards generally has the effect of reducing land and site 
development costs as costs can be spread over a larger number of units. Other benefits 
include improving the use of community resources such as public transit, utilities, 
existing road and sidewalk networks, and greenspaces, while expanding the number of 
potential customers for area businesses. 
 
Additional Affordable Housing Targets and Criteria 
The County and local municipalities could consider requiring a higher percentage of 
affordable housing per development/subdivision. Currently, the requirement is 20%, but 
this could be increased to 25% or even 30%. 
The local and County OP could also add criteria for affordable housing, such as 
quantifying a percentage of unit types within certain sized subdivisions, limiting unit 
sizes or even unit amenities (e.g. no garages to help reduce unit costs), require a 
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percentage of new development that must remain rental, and include policy to minimize 
rental conversions to condominium. Applicants would need to demonstrate at time of 
submission how the targets within the Official Plan are being met.  
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Conclusion 
Affordable housing is a concern amongst the residents of Elgin County and has been 
raised through the Official Plan review consultation process. The challenges associated 
with providing acceptable housing is twofold – ensuring adequate supply, and ensuring 
affordability. As housing prices and rents have risen faster than household incomes, 
coupled with insufficient supply of certain types of housing, this is creating a widening 
affordability gap. 
 
This report provides possible policy options that the County can consider, ranging from 
refinement of current policy, to implementing new tools to encourage more affordability 
across the County.   
 
Circulation and public engagement is recommended as the next step, to understand 
public, stakeholder and local municipal comments and preferred solutions. These 
comments will be compiled for review by County Council, where a preferred option or a 
combination of preferred options will be determined.  
 
Ultimately, any policy recommendations as result of municipal, public and stakeholder 
consultations will need to be approved by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 
(MMAH), the Approval Authority for any County of Elgin Official Plan amendments.  
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REPORT TO RURAL INITIATIVES 
AND PLANNING ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE  
FROM:  Katherine Thompson, Manager of 
Administrative Services/Deputy Clerk  

DATE: November 15, 2021 

SUBJECT: Community Grant Program Final Report 
Summary 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
THAT the November 15th, 2021, report titled, Community Grant Program Final Report 
Summary, submitted by the Manager of Administrative Services, be received and filed 
for information.  

THAT the Rural Initiatives and Planning Advisory Committee provide direction on the 
eligibility of organizations for the 2022 Community Grant Program based on submitted 
final reports.  

INTRODUCTION: 
 
All organizations who received funding from the Community Grant Program (CGP) are 
required to submit a final report to the Rural Initiatives and Planning Advisory Committee 
detailing how the funds received were spent and providing an evaluation of the 
event/program successes. These reports are due either 60 days after the completion of 
the program or event, or by November 1 of each calendar year. Organizations who do 
not submit a final report are ineligible to receive funding in subsequent years.   

DISCUSSION:  
 
To ensure accountability and transparency, final reports from organizations who have 
received the Community Grant Program funding will be published on the County’s 
website as part of a Rural Initiatives and Planning Advisory Committee agenda and 
reviewed by the Committee before funding for the subsequent year is allocated. These 
final reports must detail how each organization used the funds they received from the 
County of Elgin, how successful the program or event was, how well the organization 
was able to reach its target audience, how impactful the event was/how many 
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participants were in attendance, how persons with disabilities were engaged and 
accommodated, and if the program followed the schedule and dates proposed in the 
original application. Organizations are also required to provide financials related to their 
event or program and include any metrics gathered. In 2021, the RIPA Committee 
approved a fillable Final Report Template to standardize the process and provide clear 
direction to grant recipients regarding the type of information required. The 2021 
Community Grant Program Final Reports are attached to this report and a brief 
summary is included below.  

Note: Over the course of 2021, restrictions on events and programs as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic were constantly changing providing a moving target for event and 
program organizers. These challenges caused organizations to change direction in 
order to comply with provincial restrictions of the time and ensure public health and 
safety protocols were followed. Due to the continued challenges presented by the 
pandemic, some events were cancelled entirely and others were required to deviate 
from their originally planned programming.  

 
Second Stage Housing Programs went ahead as planned.  
STEAM Centre Programs went ahead as planned. 
Multi-Service Centre Programs went ahead as planned. 
4-H Association  Funds were utilized to upgrade website 

and pay for zoom fees to host programs 
virtually. Remaining funds used for 
awards program. Some 4H programming 
was held in person.  

Aylmer and East Elgin Agricultural 
Society 

The event went ahead as planned with 
the first panel of the mural unveiled on 
August 21st and other panels painted in 
subsequent weeks.  

Bayham Beachfest The only portion of the event which went 
ahead as planned was the fireworks on 
August 1st. 

Bayham Historical Society The Bayham Historical Society had 
previously advised the Committee of their 
modified event for the fall. The BHS 
purchased pumpkins and craft supplies 
for children and hired Dotsy the Clown as 
part of an event in October.  

C.A.L.I.P.S.O. Port Stanley The event was cancelled, and the 
organizers returned the cheque. No Final 
Report is attached or required.  
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Port Burwell Periscope Playhouse The Playhouse moved forward with their 
planned events with some modifications. 
Their opening dated was pushed back 
from May 29th to July 5th. 

Port Stanley Festival Theatre Their event was rescheduled for the 
weekend of October 28th-30th but 
otherwise went ahead as planned.  

Wallacetown Agricultural Society The Wallacetown Fair was cancelled, but 
the Agricultural Society utilized the funds 
received for a modified event that 
included community fireworks and was 
held on October 30th.  

Shedden Agricultural Society The fair was cancelled; however, the 
Shedden Agricultural Society held a 
modified youth program and $700 of the 
funds were utilized for prizes and the 
balance was returned to the County. 

Rodney Aldborough Agricultural Society The fall fair was cancelled. Funds were 
utilized instead to host a drive through 
dinner, parade, food truck and live music 
event. 

Elgin-Middlesex VON Seniors Day in the 
Park 

Seniors Day in the Park was cancelled. 
Organizers advised staff and funds were 
not sent. No Final Report is attached or 
required.   

Elgin County Plowmen’s Association A downscaled plowing match was held on 
September 11th.  

 

According to the Community Grant Program Funding Agreement, which was signed by 
all grant recipients, each organization agreed to use the grant funds only for the 
purposes stated in their original application and to notify the County if there was a 
change in their application or planned event. The agreement states that it will be 
terminated and the organization must repay the grant funds under the following 
circumstances: 

• Failure to notify the County of any changes to the planned event or program,  
• Use of grant funds for purposes other than the stated purposes, or  
• Cancellation of the event or program.  

In July of 2021, the Committee requested staff reach out to the organizations who 
received funding to determine progress on their programs and events. On August 31, 
2021 the Committee received and interim report which acted as notice for the 
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modification of many of these programs and events. The Committee indicated they 
would determine eligibility for 2022 grants based on Final Reports received in 
November.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
 
There are no financial implications associated with the review of Community Grant 
Program Final Reports.  

ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC PRIORITIES:  
 

Serving Elgin 
 

Growing Elgin Investing in Elgin 

☐ Ensuring alignment of 
current programs and 
services with community 
need. 
 
☒ Exploring different 
ways of addressing 
community need. 
 
☒ Engaging with our 
community and other 
stakeholders. 
 

☐ Planning for and 
facilitating commercial, 
industrial, residential, 
and agricultural growth. 
 
☐ Fostering a healthy 
environment. 
 
☒ Enhancing quality of 
place. 

☐ Ensuring we have the 
necessary tools, 
resources, and 
infrastructure to deliver 
programs and services 
now and in the future. 
 
☒ Delivering mandated 
programs and services 
efficiently and 
effectively. 
 
 

LOCAL MUNICIPAL PARTNER IMPACT: 
 
None.  

COMMUNICATION REQUIREMENTS: 
 
If the Committee deems an organization ineligible to receive funding in 2022 based on 
their 2021 Final Report a letter will be sent to said organization informing them of the 
Committee’s decision.  

CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff are requesting that the Committee review the attached Community Grant Program 
Final Reports to determine eligibility of organizations for 2022.   
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Approved for Submission 
 
Julie Gonyou 
Chief Administrative Officer 

All of which is Respectfully Submitted  
 

Katherine Thompson 
Manager of Administrative Services 
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Community Grant Program (CGP) 

Final Report 2021 

Background 

Organization:  St. Thomas Elgin Second Stage Housing 

Primary Contact: 

Email:  secondstage.stessh@rogers.com 

Phone:  519-637-2288 

Please tell us which grant you received (check one): 

� Community Services – Seed Grant 
� Community Services – Cultivate Grant 
� Festival and Events – Seed Grant 
� Festival and Events – Cultivate Grant 

How much funding did you receive from Elgin County in support of your program: $ 6,448 

1.) Please briefly describe the program/service/festival/event that was funded through the Community Grant Program (CGP). 

On average, 30 women, and 38 children live in residence each year. The programs are offered according to the situation and need of each 
individual woman and child. Each woman is provided approximately 550 hours of individual counselling, and 70 hours of group counselling. Life skills 
groups, parenting support, referrals and advocacy are also offered to the women who live at the residence. The children’s program offers aged-based 
activities. There are preschool groups, school aged groups and individual counselling along with recreational groups. 

Transitional Housing & Support Program - Transitional support is offered to women that are waiting to move into the residential program. This 
includes emotional support, and safety planning, so the women can transition into the program in a safe manner. These referrals and advocacy are 
offered based on identified needs. Once the women leave the residence, follow-up support is offered as they exit the program. 

Residential Counselling Program- Group and individual counselling sessions are offered to the women residing in the program. Group 
counselling focuses on helping residents to gain an understanding of the impact of abuse, understand feelings and emotions, develop problem-solving 
skills and coping strategies. There is a focus on building social networks, enhancing self-esteem, identifying and understanding the issues of power and 
control. Staff members assess personal options, which help the women to develop a strong skill set to establish future goals. The educational groups are 
offered on a weekly basis. In the week that follows the group sessions, women meet one-to-one with a staff member to discuss group content, and apply 
it personally. Each woman has one staff member dedication to their assistance.  

Children’s Program - Witnessing and experiencing abuse negatively impacts children in many different ways, and influences their daily lives 
and future. STESSH offers counselling and support programs to the children living at the residence, and includes psycho-educational based family 
activities, individual support, recreation based programs, and advocacy. Due to the personal history and experiences of the children, our staff evaluate 
each child through psychological-based assessments. These assessments help staff gain an in-depth understanding of each child’s behaviour, reaction, 
learning style and their potential to learn in future. The staff then individualize each child’s counselling and support programs to accommodate their 
needs. Ultimately, the assessments reveal the child’s intellectual, social, coping, and emotional state. They also look at memory, attention, behavioural, 
social and emotional functioning. The assessments can also help staff identify cognitive and academic strengths and weaknesses, which is then used 
and applied to individualize the support programs for each child. The psycho-educational based programs are designed to increase safety skills, self-
esteem, confidence, coping strategies, and learn about topics that allow them to recognize healthy social and life management skills. The children's 
programs offers education about family violence, safety planning, problem solving skills and emotions. The one-to-one programs available provide 
emotional support, allowing them to talk about issues privately. The learning and changing process is then encouraged and guided during daily 
connections the staff have with each family. Having the freedom to assist the children through daily challenges as they are occurring increases 
opportunities for success and growth.  

Ultimately, the counselling and programs have a strong impact on the children. We have seen positive results in many aspects of their lives 
including: the ability to trust, increased comfort, sense of security, self-confidence, positive communication, self-control, understanding of personal 
feelings, increased self-worth, healthy coping strategies, sense of belonging and identity, and increased self-esteem. 

2.) Please confirm how this funding was used (please select all that apply): 

� Supplies 
� Volunteer expenses 
� Professional fees 
� Direct Program Expenses 

Comments: 

Financial Statements for the 2019-20 fiscal year and shows a detailed break down of the revenue and the expenditures. 

The 2019-20 Total Revenue was $380,562 

- Funding received from Ministry of Community & Social Services ($140,707) , United Way ($36,000), rent supplement ($21,600), fund development
($94,698 - which includes the donation from the The County of Elgin), rent income ($85,873), and other sources ($1,684).

- We continue to have some funding challenges and need to raise $80,000 so the staff can fully support
the women and children



3.) Please confirm that the CGP funding was NOT used for the following: operating expenses 
(staffing/wages/benefits); capital projects; deficit reductions; or retroactive activity/program/event. 

I confirm that CGP was not used for the aforementioned items. 
I’m not sure. 

Please indicate which expenses you are unsure of, and provide an explanation in the 
comments section. 

Operating Expenses 
Capital Projects 
Deficit reductions 
Retroactive activity/program/event 

I cannot confirm that CGP was not used for the aforementioned items. 

Comments: 

4.) Please briefly describe how successful your program/service/festival/event was.   
 

5.) Please describe how successful you were in reaching your target audience (provide details if 
possible, i.e. number of participants). 

0 
• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 

- Each woman is provided individual counselling, and group counselling. This is in addition to life skills groups, parenting support, referrals and 
advocacy offered at STESSH. 
- The program has a positive results in many aspects of their lives including: the ability to trust, sense of security, self-confidence, positive 
communication, self-control, and understanding of personal feelings, increased self-worth, and healthy coping strategies, sense of belonging and 
identity, and increased self-esteem. 
- STESSH's success is seen in the transformation of the women and children and how the support programs have helped them move past the trauma 
and abuse they have suffered, and watch them move together a family unit in a positive and healthy manner towards a new life with a safety plan and 
goals. 
- For every family who live at STESSH's residence, and use STESSH's programs and counselling, their lives are made safer. As the women and 
children transition out of STESSH's programs, they are given the knowledge, tools and safety plans to begin a new life free from violence. 
- Ultimately, each family that is impacted by support and counselling services offered by STESSH lessens the chance of them needing to rely on the 
government services for domestic violence, allowing for incremental systemic change, reducing costs and pressure off of these government services. 

31 women, and 41 children lived in the residence. The programs are offered according to 
the situation and need of each individual woman and child. With a 9 month average 
length of stay. 
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6.) Please tell us whether your program/service/festival/event was successful targeting areas of the 
County facing greatest need or greatest inequities. 

7.) Please describe how impactful your program/service/festival/event was (i.e. number of participants, 
user impact statements, etc.) 

8.) Did your program/service/festival/event increase participation and engage persons with disabilities? 

Yes. Please tell us how in the comments section. 
No. Please tell us why you weren’t able to accomplish this in the comments section. 
Not sure. Please explain in the comments section. 

Comments: 

For twenty-seven years, St. Thomas-Elgin Second Stage Housing has offered the women of St. Thomas and Elgin County, in Southwestern Ontario, a safe place to re-establish their lives. The 
transitional residence offers women - with or without children - leaving abusive relationships, a secure and comfortable place to stay, support services, and the knowledge and tools they need to 
begin a new life free from violence. 
For people who are experiencing domestic violence, mandatory lockdowns to curb the spread of COVID-19 have trapped them in their homes with their abusers, isolated from the people and the 
resources that could help them. St Thomas Elgin Second Stage Housing has as well been facing some big challenges as the COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve. Once moved in to STESSH, 
they may face the feeling of further isolation. As residents and their children are practice social distancing and try to keep their children busy, we have been adapting to this changing environment 
and have been continuing to support the families in our building while maintaining physical distancing, as well as continued virtually. 
With all of this in mind, we have needed to adapt our program substantially in order to ad-dress this changing environment and the needs of the women and children. The program we now offer has 
changed to a one on one support with each women as well as children's program is now organized by family. This is allowing us to address each woman and child that have unique needs based on 
their experiences, and staff need to be able to respond and provide individualized assistance. This program requires a greater amount of staffing hours. Having extra funding will allow staff to provide 
the right support and counselling, and have the resources available to assist every woman and child using our programs. 

With the many stay at home at home orders instituted over the last year and a half as a result of the 
coronavirus pandemic, there have been many reports of an increase in family violence cases and St 
Thomas Elgin Second Stage Housing has been there throughout this difficult time to support the 
women and children of our community by providing transitional supports and housing to women, 
with or without children, who are leaving an abusive relationship. Through the funds we received, 
our Support Staff, we have been able to provide safe one on one support to the women and children 
of STESSH and the transitional women and children in the community. 

0 
• 
• 

Our program provides transitional supports and safe housing to women with or without children, who are leaving abusive 
relationships. Our affordable, well-maintained accessible twelve apartment complex offers a stable environment in which 
women may access a variety of supports to help them make long term plans for independent living. Information, support 
and practical resources are available to women regardless of age, colour, religion, education, economic status or ability, 
who have identified a commitment to move beyond the abuse. The longer-term support women receive while residing at 
Second Stage is intended to empower and enable them to live independently in our community, free from abuse. The Staff 
at St. Thomas-Elgin Second Stage Housing continually work with clients to make sure that they understand that violence is 
unacceptable, and that they deserve the best possible future. STESSH's mandate is to assist in the elimination of violence 
against women and children by addressing the social and cultural issues that allow violence to continue. Through our 
Residential and Tranistional supports, we had participation and engagement from 42 individuals with disabilities. 
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9.) Please tell us whether your program/service/festival/event followed the schedule and key dates that 
you identified in your application.  Please provide additional information/explanation if you made 
changes to the schedule and key dates.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.)Please let us know how the CGP supported the following: 

 
Continued capacity of your organization; 
Contribution to the sector; and  
Your organization’s ability to achieve funding priorities and outcomes. 

Comments: 

11.)Please attach a financial statement with actual program/service/festival/event costs.   
 

12.)Please attach or detail all available metrics or statistics that you used to measure the success of your 
program. 
 

13.)CULTIVATE ONLY: How successful were the changes you made to your 
program/service/festival/event? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our program runs on an annual basis from April 1 to March 31. One to one counselling is 
provided to women and children weekly as well as on an as needed basis. In addition, 
family support meetings are held weekly with each family. Group support meetings are 
not currently running due to the requirement to physical distance however, the material 
that is learned in group support meetings is now learned on a one to one basis with each 
woman and child. 

121 
121 
121 

For people who are experiencing domestic violence, mandatory lockdowns to curb the spread of COVID-19 have trapped them in their 
homes with their abusers, isolated from the people and the resources that could help them. St Thomas Elgin Second Stage Housing has as 
well been facing some big challenges as the COVID-19 pandemic continues to evolve. Once moved in to STESSH, they may face the 
feeling of further isolation. As residents and their children are practice social distancing and try to keep their children busy, we have been 
adapting to this changing environment and have been continuing to support the families in our building while maintaining physical 
distancing, as well as continued virtually. With all of this in mind, we have needed to adapt our program substantially in order to ad-dress 
this changed environment and the needs of the women and children. The program we now offer has changed to a one on one support with 
each women as well as children's pro-gram is now organized by family. This is allowing us to address each woman and child that have 
unique needs based on their experiences, and staff need to be able to respond and provide individualized assistance. 

- The women and children need the support programs to help them understand that violence is not acceptable. The programs help 
the clients understand the impact of abuse, identify the issues of power, and that control is in their own hands. 
- They have built self-esteem, have a better understanding of their emotions, and develop healthy coping mechanisms. 
- The women and their children work together so that they can start a new life and set goals. 
- We understand that safety, re-assurance, positive communication, a sense of belonging, and identity is something everyone 
deserves. 
- Working with the women and children on a daily basis has helped them understand that they deserve a life free from violence, 
and help them reach that goal through these programs and safety planning so they don't fall back into their old lives. 
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14.)How likely is your organization to apply for CGP funding in 2021? 

Very likely 
Unlikely 
Not sure 
Other: ____________________________________________________________________ 

15.) Optional – Please attach any supplemental information (e.g. organizational year end reports) to this 
application. 

Declaration: 

Authorized Signature(s) (two (2) needed if not incorporated): 

Name: _________________________________________ 

Position: _______________________________________ 

Signature: ______________________________________ 

Name: _________________________________________ 

Position: _______________________________________ 

Signature: ______________________________________ 

0 
• 
• 
• 

I confirm that the information provided in this report is true, complete, and accurate. I understand that all 
materials submitted as part of this final report will be shared publicly to ensure accountability and 
transparency. 

Stacey Robinson 

Fund Development Coordinator 

St R b · Digitally signed by Stacey Robinson acey Q lnSQn Date:2021.09.2110:15:29--04'00' 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of St. Thomas-Elgin Second Stage Transitional Housing: 

Qualified Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of St. Thomas-Elgin Second Stage Transitional Housing, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020, and the statement of operations, statement of changes in net assets 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the 
organization's financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the organization as at 
March 31, 2020, and the results of it.s operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 
In common with many charitable organizations, the organization derives revenue from donations, the completeness of 
which is not susceptible of satisfactory audit verification. Accordingly, our verification of these revenues was limited to 
the amounts recorded in the records of the organization and we were not able to determine whether any adjustments 
might be necessary to contributions and donations, revenues over expenditures, and cash flows for the year ending March 
31, 2020 and year ending March 31, 2019, current assets as at March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019 and net assets as at 
April I, 2019 and March 31, 2020 for the 2020 year ended, as well as April I, 2018 and March 31, 2019 for the 2019 year 
ended. Our audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019 was modified accordingly 
because of the possible effects of this limitation in scope. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the organization in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our qualified opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the organization's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the organization's financial reporting process. 

-1-
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P. 519-633-0700 · F. 519-633-7009 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
organization's internal control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the organization's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
organization to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures; and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

St. Thomas, Ontario 

August 20, 2020 CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNT ANTS 
Licensed Public Accountants 

-2-
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at March 31 2020 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash 
Marketable securities (Note 3) 
Accounts receivable 
Government remittances receivable 
lnterfund balances 
Prepaid expenses 

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 
Cost 
Less: accumulated amortization 

TOT AL ASSETS 

CURRENT LJABILITIES 

Operating 
Fund 
_ $_ 

48,040 
19,367 
3,369 
4,185 

(1,418) 
2 323 

75,866 

1,146,410 
(1,146,410) 

75 866 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8 949 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,949 

NET ASSETS 66 917 

TOT AL LIABILITIES AND 
NET ASSETS 75 866 

On behalf of the Board: 
Director 

Capital Contingency 
Reserve Reserve 

Fund Fund 
_L _$_ 

28,473 12,000 

1,418 

29,891 12,000 

29 891 12,000 

29 891 12,000 

29 891 12 000 

Director 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
-3-

2020 
_$ _ 

48,040 
59,840 
3,369 
4,185 

2,323 

117,757 

2019 
_L 

38,863 
48,587 

2,856 
5,756 

2 788 

98,850 

1,146,410 1,146,410 
(1,146,410) (1,146,410) 

117.757 98,850 

8,949 6 700 

8,949 6,700 

108,808 92 150 

117,757 98 850 

.•. ,/ 
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE . 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
For the Year Ended l\'larch 31, 2020 

Capital Contingency 
Operating Reserve Reserve 

Fund Fund Fund 
_$_ _j___ _$ _ 

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 47,952 32,198 12,000 

Excess (deficit) of revenues over 

expenditures for the year 18.965 (2,307) 

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR 66 917 29.891 12.000 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
-4-

2020 2019 
_$_ _j___ 

92,150 75,996 

16.658 16 154 

108.808 92.150 
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Statement of Operations 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020 

Capital Contingency 
Operating Reserve Reserve 

Fund Fund Fund 
_$_ _ $_ _$ _ 

REVENUES 
Ministry of Community and Social 
Services (Note 2) 140,707 
Residents' rent 85,873 
Donations 57,205 
Fundraising income 37,493 
United Way 36,000 
City of St. Thomas - rent supplement 21,600 
Laundry 1 684 

380,562 

EXPENDITURES 
Administration (Page 7) 285,518 
Occupancy (Page 7) 65,801 
Fundraising 9,144 
Performance management system 1 000 

361 463 

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUES 
OVER EXPENDITURES BEFORE 

INVESTMENT INCOME 19 099 

INVESTMENT INCOME 
Gain on sale of investments 5,408 
Interest and dividends 332 1,461 
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments (5,874) (3,768) 

(134) (2,307) 

EXCESS {DEFICIT) OF 
REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 18 965 (2,307) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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2020 2019 
_ $_ _$ _ 

140,707 139,610 
85,873 81,814 
57,205 49,594 
37,493 35,333 
36,000 38,000 
21,600 21,600 

1,684 1 060 

380,562 367 011 

285,518 267,873 
65,801 75,985 

9,144 7,911 
1,000 I 000 

361,463 352 769 

19,099 14 242 

5,408 
1,793 1,728 

(9,642) 184 

(2,441) 1 912 

16,658 16 154 
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ST. THQl\'IAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended March 31,2020 

Capital Contingency 
Operating Reserve Reserve 

Fund Fund Fund 
_ $_ _ $ _ _$ _ 

CASH USED IN OPERATIONS 
Excess (deficit) of revenues 
over expenditures 18,965 (2,307) 
Non-cash items 

Unrealized loss (gain) on investments 5 874 3 768 

24,839 1,461 

Changes in non-cash working capital items 
Accounts receivable (513) 
Government remittances receivable 1,571 
Prepaid expenses 465 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,248 
Interfund balances I 461 (1,461) 

30,071 

CASH USED IN 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Increase in investments (13,247) (7,647) 

(13,247) (7,647) 

FUND TRANSFERS (7,647) 7 647 

NET INCREASE IN CASH 9177 

CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 38 863 

CASH - END OF YEAR . 48 040 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
-6-

2020 2019 
_$_ _1_ 

16,658 16,154 

9,642 (184) 

26,300 15,970 

(513) (666) 
1,571 (833) 

465 336 
2,248 (68) 

30,071 14,739 

(20,894) (12,000) 

(20,894) (12,000) 

9,177 2 739 

38.863 36,124 

48.040 38,§63 
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Schedule of Administration and Occupancy Expenditures 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020 

Capital Contingency 
Operating Reserve Reserve 

Fund Fund Fund 
_$_ _ $_ _$ _ 

ADMINISTRATION 
Salaries 223,882 
Employee benefits 26,959 
Professional services 7,583 
Communication 6,726 
Computer supplies and maintenance 6,325 
Community relations 
Interest and bank charges 
Supplies 
Office 
Insurance 
Travel 
Staff training 
Bad debts 

OCCUPANCY 
Building improvements 
Utilities 
Grounds upkeep 
Maintenance supplies 
Insurance 

5,460 
3,086 
2,221 

909 
829 
671 
671 
196 

285,518 

23,552 
18,168 
11,972 
6,601 
5 508 

65 801 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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2020 
_ $_ 

223,882 
26,959 

7,583 
6,726 
6,325 
5,460 
3,086 
2,221 

909 
829 
671 
671 
196 

285.518 

23,552 
18,168 
11,972 

6,601 
5.508 

65.801 

2019 
_$ _ 

216,618 
23,239 

7,004 
6,064 
1,912 
4,849 
2,804 
2,727 

760 
822 

1,001 
73 

267 873 

25,088 
17,878 
22,651 

4,870 
5 498 

75 985 
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECO.ND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020 -

NATURE AND PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION 

St. Thomas-Elgin Second Stage Transitional Residence ("the organization") is incorporated under the laws 
of the Province of Ontario as a not-for-profit organization without share capital. It is a registered charity 
under the Canadian Income Tax Act and is exempt from income tax. Its objectives are to provide 
transitional housing and support services for women, with or without dependent children, who are leaving 
an abusive relationship. Support is offered through individual and group counselling, advocacy and 
referrals and is intended to assist the women and children in working towards ending the violence in their 
lives. The Organization operates under the name St. Thomas-Elgin Second Stage Housing. 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations and include the following significant accounting policies: 

Fund Accounting 

To ensure the observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the 
Organization, its accounts are maintained using the principles of fund accounting. Each fund records the 
activities and changes in the resources available to the Organization for specific objectives. For financial 
reporting purposes these funds are classified as follows: 

Operating Fund 
The Operating Fund records the revenue and expenditure for the ongoing operation of the Organization. 

Capital Reserve Fund 
The Capital Reserve Fund records resources internally restricted by the Board of Directors to_ be used only 
for the significant repair or replacement of the capital assets of the Organization. The funds are not 
available for any other purpose without the express approval of the Board of Directors. 

Contingency Reserve Fund 
The Contingency Reserve Fund accounts for internally restricted funds set aside by the Board of Directors 
to be used only to cover unforeseen expenditures of the Organization. 

Accounting Estimates 

The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for
profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amount of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These 
estimates are reviewed periodically, and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in 
the period in which they become known. There were no significant estimates that require further 
disclosures. 

- 8 -
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Revenue Recognition 

Residents' rent is recognized as revenue at the first of every month or the first day of residence. Subsidies, 
government funding, interest and other revenues are recognized as revenue when earned. Fundraising 
receipts are recognized as revenue when received. 

Government grants for the acquisition of capital assets are deducted from the cost of the related capital 
assets. 

Donations in kind are recorded in the accounting records when a fair monetary value can be ascertained and 
the donation is considered significant. 

Contributed Services and Materials 

Volunteers contribute an indeterminable number of hours per year. Because of the difficulty in determining 
their fair value, contributed services and donations in kind are not recognized in the financial statements. 

Tangible Capital Assets 

Capital assets are charged to operations in the period in which they are acquired except land and building 
financed through the forgivable mortgage by Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) which 
were capitalized and amortized as described below: 

Amortization of land and building was calculated on a straight-line basis over 15 years consistent with the 
amortization of the mortgage. 

Similarly, assets acquired under the CMHC Shelter Enhancement program were capitalized and amortized 
consistent with the terms of the forgiveness of the loans. 

Financial Instruments 

Measurement of financial instruments 

The organization initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value, except for certain non
arm's length transactions. 

The organization subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost, 
except for marketable securities that are quoted in an active market, which are measured at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recognized in excess of revenues over expenditures. 

- 9 -
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Financial Instruments (Continued) 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and accounts receivable. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

The organization's financial assets measured at fair value include cash and marketable securities, 

Impairment 

Financial assets measured at cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of impairment. The 
amount of the write-down is recognized in excess of revenues over expenditures. The previously 
recognized impairment loss may be reversed to the extent of the improvement, directly or by adjusting the 
allowance account, provided it is no greater than the amount that would have been reported at the date of 
the reversal had the impairment not been recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recognized 
in excess of revenues over expenditures. 

2. MINISTRY OF COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL SERVICES 

During the year the organization received funding from the Ministry .of Community and Social Services for 
the following: 

Transitional housing and support program 
Counselling service 
VA W capacity 
VA W performance management framework 

- 10 -

2020 2019 
_$_ _$_ 

75,357 
57,034 

8,316 

140,707 

74,225 
57,753 

5,532 
2 100 

139 610 
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020 

3. MARKETABLE SECURITIES 

Cost 
_ $_ 

2020 

Fair Value 
_ $ _ 

Cost 
_ $ _ 

Canadian Fixed Income 63,833 59,840 43 470 

4. INTER-FUND TRANSFER 

2019 

Fair Value 
_$ _ 

48 587 

In a prior year, the board established a Contingency Reserve Fund and approved a transfer of $12,000 for 
future unforeseen expenditures. 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Risks and Concentrations 
The organization is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis 
provides a measure of the organization's risk exposure and concentrations at the statement of Financial 
Position date. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 
by failing to discharge an obligation. The organization's main credit risks relate to its accounts receivable. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that a organization will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. The organization is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities. 

It is management's opinion that the entity is not exposed to any significant interest rate, foreign currency, 
or market risk. 

No financial liabilities of the organization were in default during the period. 

The organization was not subject to any covenants during the period. 

There were no changes to the organization's risk exposures from the prior year. 

- II -
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ST. THOMAS-ELGIN SECOND STAGE 
TRANSITIONAL RESIDENCE 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended March31, 2020 

6. SIGNIFICANT EVENT - COVID 19 

Prior to the year end, the organization was exposed to economic risks associated with the coronavirus 
pandemic. These risks continued past the year end date and are beyond the organization's control. The 
impact of these risks cannot be identified at this time but could impact the organization's operations, future 
surplus, cash flows and financial conditions. 

- 12 -
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IM P ACT  R E P O R T

Supporting Elgin County & St. Thomas 
W o m e n  &  C h i ld r e n  fo r  2 7 Ye a r s  

S T .  T H O M A S – E L G I N  S E C O N D  
S T A G E  H O U S I N G
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A M e ssa ge  f r o m  th e  E x e cu t ive  D ir e c to r
As I reflect on the last 27 y e ar s I  h ave  w o r ke d  fo r  St . T h o m as- Elgin  Se co n d  Stage  H o u sin g (ST ESSH ), I  am  r e m in d e d  o f th e  say in g th a t  it  take s a  v illage  

to  r a ise  a  ch ild . In  th e  case  o f th e  Se co n d  Stage  H o u sin g, I  w o u ld  say  th a t’s t r u e . Bu t , it  e xte n d s b e y o n d  th a t . It  take s a  v illage  to  su p p o r t  e ach  in d iv id u a l 

th a t  live s in  it , an d  w ith  th a t  su p p o r t , e ach  in d iv id u a l can  gr o w , an d  in  tu r n  th e  v illage  can  p r o sp e r  an d  o ve r  co m e  its ch a lle n ge s.

W e  live  in  a  ge n e r o u s co m m u n ity , an d  w ith  th e  le ad e r sh ip  o f o u r  b o ar d  m e m b e r s, sta ff, vo lu n te e r s, d o n o r s an d  lo ca l le ad e r s, w e  a r e  w o r k in g to ge th e r  

a s a  v illage  to  ad d r e ss th e  ch a lle n ge s o f d o m e st ic  v io le n ce . T im e  an d  t im e  aga in , m y  co lle agu e s an d  I h ave  se e n  w o m e n  u n su r e  o f th e m se lve s, 

e xp r e ssin g a  se n se  o f h o p e le ssn e ss, fe a r , an d  lack  o f co n tr o l, an d  a ll a lo n g, t r y in g to  u n d e r stan d  th e  im p act  o f ab u se .

En d in g v io le n ce  is e ve r y o n e ’s r e sp o n sib ility . C o m m u n ity  p a r t icip a t io n , e d u ca t io n  an d  ad vo cacy  a r e  p r io r it ie s fo r  o u r  age n cy , an d w e  th an k  a ll o f o u r  

d o n o r s, co m m u n ity  le ad e r s an d  b u sin e ss p a r tn e r s w h o  h ave  su p p o r te d  o u r  m an d a te  b y  m ak in g t r u ly  im p actfu l d o n a t io n s to  su p p o r t o u r  w o r k .

Yo u r  ge n e r o sity  h as h e lp e d  u s p r o v id e  r e sid e n t ia l an d  co u n se llin g se r v ice s to  lo ca l Elgin  C o u n ty  an d  St . T h o m as w o m e n  an d  ch ild r e n . Fo r  e ach  

in d iv id u a l th a t  w a lks th r o u gh  o u r  d o o r s, th e ir  live s a r e  m ad e  sa fe r . Yo u r  su p p o r t  a ssists in th e  e lim in a t io n  o f v io le n ce  aga in st w o m e n  an d  ch ild r e n  b y  

ad d r e ssin g th e  so cia l an d  cu ltu r a l issu e s th a t  a llo w  v io le n ce  to  co n t in u e . W e  se e  r e sid e n ts le ave  u s w ith  a  se n se  o f p u r p o se , d ir e ct io n  in  th e ir  live s, m o r e  

se lf- co n fid e n ce , an d  a  co m m itm e n t  to  live  w ith o u t  v io le n ce .

T h is r e p o r t , h as b e e n  cr e a te d  to  sh o w  th e  im p act  y o u r  su p p o r t  h as m ad e  fo r  th e  w o m e n  an d  ch ild r e n  w h o  u se  Se co n d  Stage  H o u sin g. W h ile  w e  a r e  n o t  

a  b ig o r gan iza t io n , o u r  w o r k  h as m ad e  a  co n siste n t  im p act  lo ca lly  fo r  m an y  y e ar s. T o ge th e r , w e  m ake  a  d iffe r e n ce  in  m an y  live s an d  w e  th an k  y o u  fo r  

y o u r  co n t in u e d  su p p o r t .

Re gar d s,

M ick ie  Ke e fe r ,

Exe cu t ive  D ir e cto r

( 
I 
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“We a r e on ly a s str ong a s w e a r e un ited, a s 
w ea k a s w e a r e divided.”

–J .K. Rowling

W O R D S  T O  R E M E M B E R
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Our Values
We value p a r t ic ip a t io n . W e  w o r k  in  p a r tn e r sh ip  w ith  th e  co m m u n ity  to  e n ab le  w o m e n  an d  ch ild r e n  to  
in cr e ase  th e ir  p e r so n a l co n tr o l an d  to  im p r o ve  sa fe ty .

W e  va lu e  r e sp e c t . T h r o u gh  o u r  sta ff, vo lu n te e r s, sp ace , p r o gr am s an d  se r vice s, w e  st r ive  to  cr e a te  an  
e n vir o n m e n t  th a t  is sa fe , ca r in g , t r u st in g , fr ie n d ly , su p p o r t ive , an d  u n d e r stan d in g.

W e  va lu e  e q u ity . W e  b e lie ve  th a t  a ll p e o p le  sh o u ld  h ave  acce ss to  se r vice s an d  p r o gr am s, an d  th e  r igh t  to  
ach ie ve  th e ir  fu lle st  p o te n t ia l th r o u gh  acce ss to  th e  p r e r e q u isite s fo r  sa fe ty  an d  w e ll- b e in g.

W e  va lu e  p r o fe ssio n a lism . O u r  clie n t  an d  p r o gr am  p ar t icip an ts h ave  th e  r igh t  to  w e ll p lan n e d , r e liab le , an d  
co n fid e n t ia l p r o gr am s an d  se r vice s d e live r e d  b y  p r o fe ssio n a ls, e n gage  in  life  lo n g le a r n in g, an d  w h o  a r e  
acco u n tab le  to  th e m se lve s, e ach  o th e r , th e ir  o r gan iza t io n  an d  th e  co m m u n ity  th e y  se r ve .

W e  va lu e  r e sp o n sive n e ss. In  o r d e r  to  m e e t  th e  co m m u n ity  n e e d s, w e  a r e  w e ll ve r se d  in  w o m e n  ab u se  issu e s 
an d  p r o act ive , fo cu se d , an d  fle xib le  se r vice .

O u r  M issio n is to  p r o v id e  
t r a n sit io n a l su p p o r t  a n d  

h o u sin g  to  w o m e n , w ith  o r  
w ith o u t  ch ild r e n , w h o  a r e  

le a v in g  a b u sin g  
r e la t io n sh ip s.

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing56



T R A N S I T I O N A L  H O U S I N G  &  
S U P P O R T  P R O G R A M

Transitional support is offered to women who are waiting to move into 
th e  r e sid en tia l p r o gr am . T h is in clu d es em o tio n al su p p o r t , an d  safe ty  
p lan n in g, so  th e  w o m en  can  tr an sit io n  in to  th e  p r o gr am  in  a  safe  
m an n e r .

T h ese  r e fe r r a ls an d  ad vo cacy  ar e  o ffe r ed  b ased  o n  id en tified  n eed s. 
O n ce  th e  w o m en  leave  th e  r e sid en ce , fo llo w - u p  su p p o r t  is o ffe r ed  as 
th ey  ex it  th e  p r o gr am .

R E S I D E N T I A L  C O U N S E L L I N G  
P R O G R A M

G r o u p  an d  in d iv id u al co u n se llin g fo cu s o n  h e lp in g r e sid en ts u n d e r stan d  
th e  im p act  o f ab u se , u n d e r stan d  fee lin gs an d  em o tio n s, d eve lo p  p r o b lem -
so lv in g sk ills an d  co p in g str a tegie s. Resid en ts an d  sta ff fo cu s o n  b u ild in g 
so cia l n e tw o r ks, en h an cin g se lf- e steem , id en tify in g an d  u n d e r stan d in g th e  
issu es o f p o w er  an d  co n tr o l.

Staff asse ss each  situ a t io n , w h ich  h e lp s th e  w o m en  e stab lish  fu tu r e  go als. 
W eekly  ed u catio n al gr o u p s ar e  o ffe r ed , in  ad d it io n  to  o n e - to - o n e  se ssio n s. 
Each  w o m an  h as o n e  sta ff m em b er  d ed ica t io n  to  th e ir  assistan ce .

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing57



One Resident's Story

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing

"I was alone, I was scared, I can’t believe I lost my home and my pets. All because I trusted him. These were the never -ending thoughts I had, when I first left my 
abusive partner of 20 years.

Those first few months of being at STESSH were terrifying, I wanted to go home, I didn’t want to be here. My belongings were at my home. The things I cherished 
were no longer for me to see or have.

My friends kept congratulating me for finally leaving such an awful man, so they wouldn’t understand my desire to go home. I did n’t tell anyone about those 
thoughts. The worst realization was that the life I had worked to build, was gone and I, at the age of 50, had to learn how t o l ive life all over again.

The staff here were kind and listened to my situation. Conversations with staff help me realize that by not going back, I was fi nally in control of my own life. Now, I 
see this as great, but at that time, it really wasn’t what I wanted to hear.

I didn’t believe that I could look after myself as well as my husband had. I had to learn how to use a bank card, grocery sho ppi ng, how to use the bus system, how to 
make business phone calls, how to cook my own meals without being told how to do it. The list of things I had to learn seemed en dless, I was terrified every time I 
had to do something new. I was afraid that I would fail, just like my husband always told me I would do.

All that being said, the support at Second Stage Housing gave me the help I needed to work through each fear and challenge. T hey understood my feelings, and for 
the first time in years, I was allowed to feel however I wanted without judgement. Each time I accomplished a new task, it ma de me stronger, and less afraid to try 
the next challenge.

Slowly I didn’t think about what my husband or others would think or say about something I had done. I was living a new life, a life I had dreamed of many times. 
A life that I could be proud of, a life where somebody wasn’t going to yell and swear at me, a life that didn’t include being pu nched, or being left at home hungry 
waiting for him to come home from a weekend with his friends.

Now, It has been two years since separating from my husband, and one year since leaving Second Stage Housing and I am living a happy life. I have rebuilt my life 
and realize I didn’t lose anything by leaving him. I gained everything. I have the chance to live with new feelings, happines s and self – worth.

I am not alone, I have support from Second Stage Housing, friends, and Buttons my new cat!"
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Since 1994
56 3 women and 888 children 

have been supported by STESSH

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing

23 Women
In the Residential Program

946 Hours
Women’s and Children’s 

Counselling Program

133 Women
In the Transitional Program

& Plans Completed

400
Transitional Counselling 

Hours

70
Tranisitional Support 

Follow up Hours

10 Women
Supported with Follow -up 

Services

23
Safety Plans Completed

2020 -2021 Stats
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The children that enter the residence have been negatively impacted by abuse. Once they enter the program, our staff 
evalu a te  each  ch ild  th r o u gh  p sy ch o lo gica l- b ased  asse ssm en ts w h ich  r eveal th e  ch ild ’s in te lle ctu a l, so cia l, co p in g, an d  
em o tio n al sta te . T h ey  a lso  lo o k  a t  m em o r y , a t ten tio n , b eh avio u r a l, so cia l an d  em o tio n al fu n ctio n in g.

ST ESSH  o ffe r s p sy ch o - ed u catio n al b ased  gr o u p  co u n se llin g an d  act iv it ie s, in d iv id u al su p p o r t , r e cr ea t io n  b ased  
p r o gr am s, an d  ad vo cacy  th a t  a r e  d e sign ed  to  in cr ease  safe ty  sk ills an d  co p in g str a tegie s. T h ey  lear n  ab o u t  to p ics th a t  
a llo w  th em  to  r eco gn ize  h ea lth y  so cia l an d  life  m an agem en t sk ills.

Staff h ave  seen  p o sit ive  r e su lts w ith  th e  ch ild r en  as th ey  d eve lo p  an  u n d e r stan d in g o f p e r so n al fee lin gs, le ar n  p o sit ive  
co m m u n ica tio n  sk ills, ga in  a  sen se  o f secu r ity , an d  h ea lth y  co p in g str a tegie s.

Staff w o r k  w ith  th e  ch ild r en  to  b u ild  tr u st , co m fo r t , se lf- co n tr o l, se lf- co n fid en ce , in cr eased  se lf- w o r th , a  sen se  o f 
b e lo n gin g an d  id en tity , an d  in cr eased  se lf- e steem .

Children's 
Program

“We have seen the children 
grow and flourish with the 

support programs and 
counselling. They are so 
resilient as they’ve been 

through so much, but they 
understand that they aren’t 

alone and we are here to help 
them grow.”

- Children’s Advocate at STESSH

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing

Residential Counselling 
Program

43 children 
Support & Recreational 

Counselling

121 hours
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F a m ily  Im p a c t

"I am a mom of five children, three girls and two boys, all under the age of 12 years. My partner was verbally and physically ab u sive  w ith  m e  an d  a lso  le ft  u s a t  r isk  
fr o m  m an y  o f h is asso cia te s. W e  lived  in  u n safe  co n d it io n s fo r  a lm o st  a  y ear  b e fo r e  I w as ab le  to  r each  o u t  to  se r v ice  p r o vid e r s an d  w as o ffe r ed  th e  ch an ce  to  co m e  
to  ST ESSH . 

W h en  w e  fir st  m o ved  in to  Seco n d  Stage  H o u sin g, th e  ch ild r en  w er e  ve r y  d istan t  fr o m  o th e r s. T h ey  h ad  a  lo t  o f b eh avio u r a l issu es su ch  as figh tin g am o n g 
th em se lves, d e str o y in g p r o p e r ty  an d  ju st  gen e r a lly  n o t  h av in g an  em o tio n al co n n ectio n  to  an y o n e  o r  an y th in g. T h ey  h ad  a lw ay s lived  in  ch ao s, so  th a t  p a t te r n  
co n tin u ed . T h ey  d id n ’t  kn o w  w h at th a t  w as like  to  b e  r e sp ected , o r  h o w  to  r e sp ect  o th e r s.

T h ey  sta r ted  go in g to  w eekly  gr o u p  an d  m ee tin g w ith  th e  C h ild r en ’s Ad vo cate . At fir st  th ey  d id n ’t  say  m u ch  ab o u t  th e ir  se ssio n s. Afte r  ab o u t  tw o  m o n th s, I  n o ticed  
th ey  sta r ted  ta lk in g ab o u t  th e ir  fee lin gs an d  to ld  m e  th is w as th e  fir st  p lace  th ey  fe lt  sa fe . I  saw  th a t  th e  co u n se llin g w as star t in g to  m ake  a  d iffe r en ce .

T h ey  slo w ly  sto p p ed  b e in g p h y sica l w ith  each  o th e r  an d  th e  ve r b a l th r ea ts sto p p ed . T h ey  sto p p ed  h avin g b ad  d r eam s ab o u t  th e  p eo p le  th a t  p u t  th em  a t  r isk . I  
fo u n d  th a t  m y  gir ls sta r ted  to  o p en  u p  an d  th ey  sta r ted  to  see  th a t  o th e r  p eo p le  car ed  ab o u t  th em . T h ey  n o w  see  th a t  n o t  a ll m en ar e  ab u sive  an d  th a t  th ey  ar e  ab le  
to  live  w ith o u t  v io len ce . T h ey  lo ve  th e  fact  th a t  w e  ar e  safe  an d  th a t  th e r e  a r e  r u le s. T h ey  a lso  saw  th a t  I w as fo llo w in g r u le s an d  m akin g ch an ges to  keep  u s safe .

M y  o ld est  ch ild  w as ve r y  sh u t  d o w n  w h en  w e  fir st  m o ved  in to  th e  p r o gr am . Sh e  w as an gr y  an d  d id n ’t  w an t  to  ta lk  ab o u t  h o w  sh e  fe lt . I  th in k  sh e  w as p ar an o id  
ab o u t  p eo p le  a lw ay s w atch in g h e r . In it ia lly , sh e  h ad  te r r ib le  n igh t  te r r o r s, b u t  a  few  m o n th s afte r  m o vin g in to  th e  r e sid en ce , th ey  sto p p ed . Sh e  sta r ted  lab e llin g h e r  
fee lin gs, le ar n in g th a t  it  w as o kay  to  h ave  em o tio n s an d  h e r  an xie ty  le ssen ed . Fo r  a  lo n g t im e  sh e  w o u ld n ’t  a llo w  an y o n e  to  to u ch  h e r  an d  d id n ’t  w an t  m e  to  h u g 
h e r . N o w  sh e  w ill h u g m e , sh e  u n d e r stan d s th a t  sh e  is safe  an d  in  co n tr o l o f h e r  safe ty . 

Fo r  th e  fir st  t im e  in  o u r  live s w e  ar e  liv in g in  a  safe  en vir o n m en t an d  en jo y  b e in g to ge th e r . W e  h ave  go als an d  n o w  kn o w  w h at b e in g safe  fee ls like . W e  h ave  
w o r ked  h ar d  to  b u ild  a  w h o le  n ew  life  an d  w e  a ll lo o k  fo r w ar d  to  a  b r igh t  h ap p y  fu tu r e  to ge th e r . 

T h e  sta ff a t  Seco n d  Stage  H o u sin g h e lp ed  th e  ch ild r en  m ake  ch an ges an d  afte r  m an y  h o u r s o f w o r k , car e  an d  u n d e r stan d in g, I can  say  w e  h ave  b een  su ccessfu l. I  
am  cu r r en tly  p r ep ar in g to  m o ve  to  a  n ew  p lace  w ith  m y  ch ild r en . Alth o u gh  th e  id ea  o f b e in g w ith o u t  d a ily  su p p o r t  is a  lit t le  scar y , I  kn o w  w e  a ll d eve lo p ed  th e  
sk ills n eed ed  to  stay  o n  th e  h ea lth y  p a th  th a t  o u r  su p p o r t  h as p u t  u s o n .

T h an k  y o u  Seco n d  Stage  H o u sin g, y o u  h ave  ch an ged  o u r  live s!"

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing61



R e sid e n t ia l  S e r v ic e s

St. Thomas–Elgin Second S tage  Hous ing

“Second Stage Housing helped my children and I overcome the abusive situation we left. We were given a safe place to stay at the residence, and the knowledge and skills 
to move our lives forward. The staff were so supportive and guided us through counselling so we could make future plans and liveour lives without violence.”- one resident

Average Length of Stay

9 months 
Occupancy Rate

97%
U sed  th e  Resid en ce

23 women & 43 children 

20 20 - 20 21 Sta ts

T h e  12- u n it  ap ar tm en t co m p lex  is w h ee l- ch air  accessib le , co n ta in in g five  3  b ed r o o m , fo u r  2  b ed r o o m  an d  th r ee  1 b ed r o o m  fu r n ish ed
ap ar tm en ts. T h e  len gth  o f stay  in  r e sid en cy  is o n e  y ear . Afte r  e igh t  m o n th s, a  r e sid en cy  r ev iew  is co n d u cted , an d  if th e  w o m an  id en tifie s a  
n eed  fo r  co n tin u ed  su p p o r t , a  fo u r  m o n th  ex ten sio n  can  b e  gr an ted .
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2 0 2 0 - 2 0 2 1 H ig h l ig h t s
- Str a tegic p lan n in g se ssio n s w e r e  d e fe r r ed  u n til th e  Bo ar d  o f D ir ecto r s can  w o r k  fo r  lo n ge r  

p e r io d s o f t im e  to ge th e r  in  th e  sam e  p ace . Fo cu sed  ch an ged  to  C O VID  p o licie s an d  p r o to co ls 

an d  en su r in g th e  agen cy  co n tin u ed  to  o ffe r  se r v ice s safe ly

- Im p lem en ted  p r o jects to  in cr ease  b u ild in g safe ty  (So cia lly  d istan ced  co m m o n  ar ea , n ew  h eatin g 

an d  ven tila t io n  sy stem , in sta lla t io n  o f safe ty  d iv id e r s a t  w o r k  sta t io n s, cr ea ted  a  safe  an d  p r iva te  

m ee tin g sp ace  as w e ll as iso la t io n  sp ace )

- All fu n d r a isin g even ts w e r e  can ce lled  d u e  to  C O VID  an d  fu n d r a isin g fo cu s in cr eased  th r o u gh  

r e sear ch  an d  fo u n d atio n  ap p lica t io n s

- G r ew  r e la t io n sh ip s w ith  co m m u n ity  p ar tn e r s

- D eve lo p ed  p o sit ive  r e la t io n sh ip s w ith  th e  w o m en  an d  ch ild r en  th r o u gh  d a ily  p h o n e  an d  v ir tu a l  

in te r act io n s to  en su r e  em o tio n al su p p o r t  w as o ffe r ed  

- Staff m o d ified  an d  ad ap ted  to  ch an gin g n eed s o f th e  w o m en  an d  ch ild r en  an d  sp en t  m o r e  t im e  

w ith  th em  as a  fam ily  u n it  su p p o r t in g th em  as th ey  faced  d a ily  ch allen ges to ge th e r

- Staff su p p o r ted  an d  r e in fo r ced  p o sit ive  ch an ge , h e lp ed  th e  w o m en  to  u n d e r stan d  th e  n egative  

e ffects o f ab u se

- O n e- to - o n e  su p p o r t  h e lp ed  th e  w o m en  to  le ar n  ab o u t  se lf- car e , b u d ge tin g, in te r e sts an d  h o b b ie s 

as w e ll as n eed s an d  b asic n ecessit ie s w e r e  m e t

- Sta t ist ica lly  w o m en  an d  ch ild  th a t  h ave  exp e r ien ced  d o m estic v io len ce  str u ggle  w ith  iso la t io n , 

Staff su p p o r ted  w o m en  an d  ch ild r en  w ith  th is as w e ll as so cia l iso la t io n  d u e  to  p an d em ic 

r e str ict io n s 
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Our Partners

St. Thomas -Elgin Second Stage Housing serves the population of Elgin County and the City of St. 
Thomas, and continually assist residents from all corners of our community. Time and time again, we 
see women coming to us unsure of themselves, expressing a sense of hopelessness, fear, and lack of 
control. We see residents leave us with a sense of purpose, direction in their lives, more self - confidence, 
and a commitment to live without violence. 

We strive to instill the message that everyone has a right to make a healthy choice — a life free of 
control and violence.

St. Thomas -Elgin Second Stage Housing works closely with community partners to address the issue of 
violence at both the individual and the systemic level in order to create a non -violent community.

Ending violence is everyone’s responsibility. Governments, business, voluntary groups, institutions and 
service providers should be involved in public education and activities which contribute to change. 
Violence against women is not a private family matter but is a criminal offence which demands that 
perpetrators, not their victims, be held responsible for the violence.

Community participation, education and advocacy are priorities for our agency, and we need 
community leadership from our business partners and local leaders to support our mandate and assist 
in the elimination of violence against women and children by addressing the social and cultural issues 
that allow violence to continue.

-----
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Thanks to you, our community partners and donors, Second Stage Housing continues 
o u r  co m m itm en t to  su p p o r t  w o m en  an d  th e ir  ch ild r en  leav in g ab u sive  r e la t io n sh ip s.

Yo u r  su p p o r t  h as a llo w ed  u s to  ad d r e ss in d iv id u al n eed s o f a ll th e  w o m en  an d  
ch ild r en  an d  su p p o r t  th em  as th ey  co m e  to  te r m s w ith  th e  n egative  im p act  o f ab u se .

Yo u r  su p p o r t  a llo w s u s to  r u n  th e  r e sid en tia l p r o gr am  an d  an d  tr an sit io n al h o u sin g 
p o r gr am s to  keep  w o m en  safe .

W e  see  th e  w o m en  an d  ch ild r en  gr o w  an d  flo u r ish  as th ey  lear n  p o sit ive  
co m m u n ica tio n  sk ills, se t  go als, d eve lo p  r e la t io n sh ip s, an d  u n d e r stan d  th e  im p o r tan ce  
o f safe ty . T o ge th e r , th ey  m o ve  fo r w ar d  as a  fam ily  u n it  in  a  p o sit ive  m an n e r  w ith  
go als an d  a  co m m itm en t to  h av in g a  h ap p ie r  fu tu r e .

Becau se  o f y o u r  su p p o r t , sta ff a t  ST ESSH  co n tin u e  to  m ake  a  p o sit ive  im p act  an d  
assist  in  th e  e lim in atio n  o f v io len ce . W e  w o r k  to  h e lp  r ed u ce  th e  str e ss o n  p u b lic an d  
em er gen cy  se r v ice s, b u t  m o st  im p o r tan tly  m ake  live s safe r .

Fo r  a ll th a t  y o u  d o  fo r  ST ESSH , p lease  kn o w  w e  ar e  gr a te fu l, an d  th a t  y o u r  su p p o r t  
h as m ad e  a  tr u e  im p act  fo r  lo ca l w o m en  an d  ch ild r en .

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing

Our Thanks to our Donors & Community Partners
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Board  of Direc tors
Kelly Hoogstra, Chair 
Beverley Wright, Co Cha ir
Sylvia  Vanderkooy, Secre ta ry/Treasure r
Pa t Pol, Director
Donna  Lunn, Margare t Barrie , Director
Monica  Benwell, Director
Marg Cheney, Director

S ta ff
Mickie Keefer, Executive Director
e: mkeefer.stessh@rogers.com

Stacey Robinson , Fund Development
e: froffice.stessh@rogers.com
p: 519.637-2288

St. Thomas–Elgin Second Stage Housing

15 Golding Place, 
St. Thomas, ON  N5R 6B6

p: 519.637.2288
f: 519.637.2213

w: www.secondstagehousing.net
e: secondstage.stessh@rogers.com

Legal Name: 
St. Thomas-Elgin Second Stage 

Transitional Residence

CRA 137010674RR0001

St . T h o m a s– E lgin  Se co n d  Sta ge  
H o u sin g
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Community Grant Program (CGP) 
Final Report 2021 

Background 

Organization: ___STEAM Education Centre________________________________________________ 

Primary Contact: Jessica Gransaull, Executive Director 

Email: ___jessica@steameducation.ca_______________________________________________ 

Phone: __5196192534_______________________________________________ 

Please tell us which grant you received (check one): 
Community Services – Seed Grant 
Community Services – Cultivate Grant 
Festival and Events – Seed Grant 
Festival and Events – Cultivate Grant 

How much funding did you receive from Elgin County in support of your program: $__6240_____________ 

1.) Please briefly describe the program/service/festival/event that was funded through the Community Grant 
Program (CGP). 

The 2020 pandemic highlighted the digital divide in Canada. Canadians stayed isolated at home for weeks 
to limit the virus’ spread which means countless people relied on a home computer and internet to continue 
their work or education. Public health officials urged Canadians to connect virtually with health 
practitioners, family and friends. The limited options for those without a home computer created a 
knowledge gap and heightened the social and economic barriers they faced. 

re//BUILD.IT Community launched in July 2020 with Community Grant Program cultivation support to 
provide free refurbished computers to low income students, Indigenous communities and people living in 
poverty in Elgin - St. Thomas - people disproportionately affected when schools, centres and libraries 
closed during the pandemic. 

2.) Please confirm how this funding was used (please select all that apply): 

Supplies 
Volunteer expenses 
Professional fees 
Direct Program Expenses 

Comments 

With visionary support from the County of Elgin, re//BUILD.IT Community purchased computer 
hardware and supplies including replacement batteries, wireless internet adapters and web cameras. 

Each computer provided comes with everything someone might need to participate in Canadian life as 
a worker, consumer and citizen: laptop or computer tower with the latest operating system, sanitized 
and clean of dust and debris, a monitor, keyboard, mouse, power cords, web camera with microphone, 
a wireless internet adapter, and speakers. 
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3.) Please confirm that the CGP funding was NOT used for the following: operating expenses 
(staffing/wages/benefits); capital projects; deficit reductions; or retroactive activity/program/event. 

Yes, I confirm that CGP was not used for the aforementioned items. 

I’m not sure. 
• Please indicate which expenses you are unsure of, and provide an explanation in the 

comments section. 
Operating Expenses 
Capital Projects 
Deficit reductions 
Retroactive activity/program/event 

I cannot confirm that CGP was not used for the aforementioned items. 

Comments: 

4.) Please briefly describe how successful your program/service/festival/event was. 

re//BUILD.IT Community was extremely successful on many levels. We developed an easy-to-access 
resource solution for agency representatives and individuals alike with an expeditious and thorough 
application and qualification process followed by the coordinated transfer of technology to the recipient. 
This program created a way around the most difficult barriers that low income people constantly encounter, 
such as not having enough money, and computers not being considered eligible expenses per their 
assistance program. 

We aspired to donate 300 refurbished computers and we actually provided 308 to people who could not 
otherwise afford a device to communicate, learn, work, and function from home. 

5.) Please describe how successful you were in reaching your target audience (provide details if 
possible, i.e. number of participants). 

In 2020, we aspired to reach a maximum number of low income students, Indigneous people and people 
facing poverty with devices and were extremely successful in reaching our target audiences. Through the 
referral and application processes, applicants were qualified by the program coordinator to ensure the 
standards and expectations of the program are met, and the intended participants receive our support. 
Here is the category breakdown for 308 recipients: 

1. 62 computers to Indigenous people, 60 of which are youth students living in Elgin - St. Thomas. 
2. 55 computers to low income students (of any age) living in Elgin - St. Thomas. 
3. 38 computers to impoverished people from Elgin - St. Thomas wishing to learn a new skill, attend 

an online mental health class, or personal appointments from home. 
4. 153 computers to residents of Middlesex - London and beyond. 

Another symbol of our success in reaching the most vulnerable people comes from the recent 
acknowledgement from social enterprise Future of Good. re//BUILD.IT Community was recently selected 
by Future of Good as a Top 100 Recovery Project Helping Canada Build Back Better. for creating a 
program that directly addresses five United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, including Quality 
Education, No Poverty, and Decent Work/Economic Growth. 
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6.) Please tell us whether your program/service/festival/event was successful targeting areas of the 
County facing greatest need or greatest inequities. 

Our program was particularly effective because the STEAM Team made every effort to bring devices to 
people living across the County, particularly to those without a vehicle in remote areas. Whether 
coordinating with one’s social/mental health worker, finding a volunteer to deliver a device, or a STEAM 
staff member dropping them off personally, re//BUILD.IT Community was very successful targeting and 
equipping people across the County facing greatest need, and greatest inequalities. 

7.) Please describe how impactful your program/service/festival/event was (i.e. number of participants, 
user impact statements, etc.) 

This program has collected thousands of pounds of electronic waste and given new purpose to old tech by 
providing 308 refurbished computers to people who could not otherwise afford a device to communicate, 
learn, work, and function from home. 

We were able to leverage the early success of this program to acquire more than 30 referral partner 
agencies and organizations to ensure every person facing poverty without a home computer can access 
the program when they need it most. With 7-10 requests for a device received each week, we forecast 
donating at least 400 computers to residents of Elgin - St. Thomas in 2021-2022. 

To further evidence our ability to successfully and meaningfully create impact for our target audiences, I 
have attached two letters of support from local health and vocational support workers: CMHA Vocational 
and Mental Health Lead, M. Crocker, and Job Placement Specialist with Youth Opportunities Unlimited, J. 
McGuire. 

8.) Did your program/service/festival/event increase participation and engage persons with disabilities? 

Yes. Please tell us how in the comments section. 
No. Please tell us why you weren’t able to accomplish this in the comments section. 

Not sure. Please explain in the comments section. 

Comments: 

Thanks to our extensive collection of donated technologies, this program has been accessed continually by 
people with disabilities and who need specific technology to facilitate easy use of a computer for their 
purposes. For example, we provided extra large monitors to people who bad vision, we provided tablets to 
those who struggle to type due to arthritis or mobility issues, and we gave web cameras with microphones 
to each recipient to ensure they can participate visually in mental health and physical support programs 
with their workers and/or caretakers. 

9.) Please tell us whether your program/service/festival/event followed the schedule and key dates that 
you identified in your application. Please provide additional information/explanation if you made 
changes to the schedule and key dates. 

We did not deviate from the plan, and ultimately surpassed our distribution goal for our first year. 
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10.)Please let us know how the CGP supported the following: 

Continued capacity of your organization; 
Contribution to the sector; and 
Your organization’s ability to achieve funding priorities and outcomes. 

Comments: 

The CGP supported the creation of this program, specifically funding the cost of replacement computer 
parts and components. As such, the CGP has made a huge contribution to the education and skill 
development sectors, and anti-poverty measures, respectively. Additionally, and without realizing the 
impact at the onset of the program, the CGP helped create a one-of-a-kind computer donation program in 
our region, helping our most vulnerable people stay connected to family, friends, services and opportunities 
in uncertain times. 

11.)Please attach a financial statement with actual program/service/festival/event costs. 

Program revenue and spending report, July 2020 to August 2021. 

12.)Please attach or detail all available metrics or statistics that you used to measure the success of your 
program. 

We measure the success of our program based on our ability to reach the target audiences, participant 
feedback, and the quantity of devices we are able to provide. Documentation and analysis begins when 
someone submits an application. Following the submission of one’s application form, a Program 
Coordinator calls each applicant to confirm personal details, and to collected addition information to qualify 
each applicant, including: 

1. Where do you reside? 
2. Is the applicant a registered student? Or planning to register for a school program? 
3. Is the applicant receiving any kind of financial or social assistance, such as OW or ODSP, at this 

time? 
4. Does the applicant have limited extra funds? Ie. Can they afford a $200 used computer at this 

time? 
5. Is the applicant Indigenous? 

Conversation naturally shifts with each qualifying phone call, allowing us to collect important information 
through detailed note taking. This process also leads us to identify the most popular second languages, and 
begin to develop applications in each popular second language. 

13.)CULTIVATE ONLY: How successful were the changes you made to your 
program/service/festival/event? 
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re//BUILD.IT Community launched as a quick response after STEAM Education Centre received frequent 
requests from the community to rebuild computers after schools, centres and libraries closed due to covid 
restrictions. When we applied for funding from the County of Elgin, we had just begun the program, and 
had provided 85 refurbished computers (Nov 2020). Funding from the County allowed us to fortify the 
program and intentionally strive to support more than 300 people and families. 

14.)How likely is your organization to apply for CGP funding in 2021? 

Very likely 
Unlikely 
Not sure 

Other: ____________________________________________________________________ 

15.) Optional – Please attach any supplemental information (e.g. organizational year end reports) to this 
application. 

STEAM Education Centre Annual Report 

Declaration: 

I confirm that the information provided in this report is true, complete, and accurate. I understand that all 
materials submitted as part of this final report will be shared publicly to ensure accountability and 
transparency. 

Authorized Signature(s) (two (2) needed if not incorporated): 

Name: ___Jessica Gransaull_______________________ 

Position: __Executive Director______________________ 

Signature: 
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re//BUILD.IT Community Budget Report 
(2020-2021) 

Budget 
Income: Requested: Notes: 
Federal Government Sources 
(specify): 
Gov. of Canada (United Way) $71,340.00 Funding for July 2020 to March 2021 

Provincial / Territorial 
Government Sources (specify): 
Elgin County $6,274.00 Funding received April 2021 

Other (list all sources) 
Elgin Business Resource Cntr $1,000 Sponsorship 

Green Lane Fund $30,000 Funding for October 2020 - October 2021 

Total Income: $108,614.00 

Proposed Expense: 

Wages and Benefits $68,250 2 Part time program staff + MERCs x 12 months 

Professional Fees: $5,500 Consultant (design program website, do updates, creative ads, flyers) 
Travel for Staff and Volunteers: $1,550 Computer donation pickups, drop offs 

Printing and Communication: $5,259 
Program postcards, social media ads, radio ads, Chamber of Commerce 
ads. Printed program materials for applicants. 

Utilities, Insurance, and Rental of 
Premises $6,143 

Pro-rated space costs (ie. inventory storage, refurbishing, distribution 
activities), insurance 

Equipment 
Purchase/Rental/Lease/Maintena 
nce: $1,200 

Supplemental cords, keyboards, mouse, monitors, components, hand 
tools, computer storage racks, Health and Safety/PPE supplies, sterilizing 
products, specialized computer cleaning products 

Program Hardware (Wireless 
access tools) $9,513 Ethernet cord or wireless adapters, web camera with microphone 

Administration Costs: $13,577 Staff training, supervision, and program tracking, reporting, evaluation 

Other Project Materials and 
Supplies: $200 Volunteer tshirts, safety equipment, 
Small Capital Costs: $0 

Total Expense: $111,192 
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367 Talbot St  St Thomas ON  N5P 1B7 MARK A WALES  Tel: (519) 637-0700  Fax: (519) 637-0919 

C H A R T E R E D  P R O F E S S I O N A L  
A C C O U N T A N T S 

10 Argyle St Simcoe ON  N3Y 1V5 
Tel: (519) 512-0471  Fax: (519) 512-0501 

www.markawales.ca 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To Board of Directors of STEAM Education Centres Incorporated: 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of STEAM Education Centres Incorporated, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at June 30, 2020, and the statements of operations & changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
organization as at June 30, 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the organization in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the organization's ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the organization's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

OUR REPORTS AND CERTIFICATES ARE ISSUED ON THE UNDERSTANDING THAT UNLESS THEY ARE REPRODUCED IN THEIR ENTIRETY, ANY SUMMARIES THEREOF, EXCERPTS 
THEREFROM OR REFERENCES THERETO SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO US FOR OUR APPROVAL 
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A C C O U N T A N T S
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Tel: (519) 637-0700   Fax: (519) 637-0919

10 Argyle St   Simcoe ON   N3Y 1V5
Tel: (519) 512-0471   Fax: (519) 512-0501

www.markawales.ca

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

organization’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant

doubt on the organization’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,

we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up

to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the organization to cease to

continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities

within the organization to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,

supervision and performance of the organization's audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

October 28, 2020 Mark A Wales Professional Corporation
St Thomas, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants

Authorized to practise public accounting by the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario

OUR REPORTS AND CERTIFICATES ARE ISSUED ON THE UNDERSTANDING THAT UNLESS THEY ARE REPRODUCED IN THEIR ENTIRETY, ANY SUMMARIES THEREOF, EXCERPTS
THEREFROM OR REFERENCES THERETO SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO US FOR OUR APPROVAL
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT JUNE 30, 2020 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Bank and cash 95,296 36,565 
Accounts receivable - 7,696 
Government remittances recoverable 690 15,612 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 

500 
460 

2,079 
3,392 

TOTAL ASSETS 96,946 65,344 

LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Line of credit - Note 7 18 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Government remittances payable 
Deferred contributions - Note 3 

7,330 
195 

104,855 

26,700 
270 

14,192 
112,398 41,162 

CEBA LOAN - Note 8 40,000 -

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS - Note 4 

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted funds (deficit) (55,452) 24,182 

TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 96,946 65,344 

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 

Director: Director: 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Balance - Beginning of year 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses for the year 

Balance - End of year 

24,182 

(79,634) 

(55,452) 

(4,335) 

28,517 

24,182 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

Budget 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Actual 
2019 

$ $ $ 

REVENUES 
Opening balance 
Unrestricted contributions and grants 
Restricted contributions and grants 
E-Waste recycling 

-
95,000 

105,000 
6,500 

-
46,288 
52,181 
4,142 

75,000 
64,765 
87,247 

6,237 
Memberships 
Space rental 
Consultation and instruction 

-
400 

2,250 

-
940 

2,761 

550 
21,048 

1,780 
Retail merchandise and consumable fees 24,750 3,779 12,750 
Enrolment fees 31,330 6,652 32,588 
Events 40,000 - 20 
School field trips 32,125 6,645 15,816 
Raffle proceeds 
Bank interest 

2,000 
250 

-
116 

1,720 
130 

339,605 123,504 319,651 

EXPENSES 
Advertising and marketing 
Computer hardware and software 
Direct programming expenses 
Insurance 

6,792 
5,000 

35,300 
4,150 

2,159 
1,913 

12,305 
1,754 

4,722 
3,646 

17,327 
2,276 

Event costs 8,000 - 571 
Office expenses 
Professional fees 

5,100 
14,210 

3,260 
14,926 

10,038 
10,179 

Professional development 1,000 260 402 
Retail purchases 
Telecommunications 

-
1,330 

-
1,653 

1,223 
2,588 

Travel 1,000 59 97 
Utilities 21,550 20,967 33,325 
Wages and benefits 192,281 

295,713 
143,882 
203,138 

204,740 
291,134 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER 
EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR 43,892 (79,634) 28,517 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses for the year (79,634) 28,517 

Changes in working capital items: 
Change in accounts receivable 7,696 (6,689) 
Change in government remittances recoverable 14,922 12,891 
Change in inventory 1,579 1,005 
Change in prepaid expenses 2,932 2,746 
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (19,370) 538 
Change in government remittances payable (75) (4) 
Change in deferred contributions 90,663 (77,299) 

98,347 (66,812) 

18,713 (38,295) 

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisition of CEBA loan 40,000 -
Repayments to line of credit (8,982) -
Advances from line of credit 9,000 -
Repayments to note payable (10,000) -
Advances from note payable 10,000 -

40,018 -

NET CHANGE IN CASH FOR THE YEAR 58,731 (38,295) 

CASH - BEGINNING 36,565 74,860 

CASH - ENDING 95,296 36,565 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

The organization was Federally incorporated on May 18th, 2016 in the Province of Ontario for the purpose 
of empowering all learners and makers in Southwestern Ontario to create the future through play, 
ingenuity and exploration using STEAM learning tools.  The organization is a Registered Charity without 
share capital under the ITA (Canada). 

The organization operates from the rented premises at 745 Talbot Street, St Thomas. 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The organization follows accounting principles generally accepted for not-for-profit organizations and 
these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Canadian accounting standards 
for not-for-profit organizations which include the following: 

(a) Accrual Basis of Accounting 

Revenue and expenditures are recorded on the accrual basis, whereby they are reflected in the 
accounts in the period in which they have been earned and incurred respectively, whether or not 
such transactions have been fully settled by the receipt of payment of money. 

(b) Revenue Recognition 

The organization follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions which include 
government grants.  Restricted contributions and are recognized as revenue in the year in which 
the related expenses are incurred.  Unrestricted contributions, fees, rent and interest are 
recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be 
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

(c) Inventory 

Inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost is determined using 
the first-in, first-out method.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business. 

(d) Capital Assets 

The organization has elected to expense capital assets as purchased in accordance with Section 
4431 of the Accounting Standards for Non-Profit Organizations.  The following is a list of the 
types of capital assets the organization utilizes: 

Computer hardware 

Office equipment 

Program equipment 

Leasehold improvements 

Signs 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

(e) Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets acquired individually or as part of a group of other assets are expensed as 
incurred.  The organizations intangible assets consist of computer software, which is expensed as 
purchased. 

(f) Contributed Services and Goods 

Volunteers contribute an indeterminable number of hours per year to assist the organization in 
carrying out its activities. Because of the difficulty in determining the fair value and the extent of 
staff time required to gather and calculate the fair value, contributed services are not recognized 
in the financial statements. 

Used electronic goods are accepted by the organization through the E-Waste Recycling program. 
Contributed goods, used in the normal course of operations, are recognized in the financial 
statements when the fair value can be reasonably estimated and the materials would otherwise 
have been purchased. 

(g) Leases 

Leases are classified as either capital or operating leases.  A lease that transfers substantially all 
of the benefits and risks incidental to the ownership of property is classified as a capital lease. 
All other leases are accounted for as operating leases wherein rental payments are expensed as 
incurred.  At the inception of a capital lease, an expense and obligation are recorded at an amount 
equal to the lesser of the present value of the minimum lease payments and the property's fair 
value at the beginning of such lease. 

(h) Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued.  In subsequent periods, 
financial assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains 
and losses reported in income.  All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and 
tested for impairment at each reporting date.  Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale or issue of 
financial instruments are expensed when incurred.  The organizations's financial instruments 
consist of cash, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred grants. 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

(i) Measurement Uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for 
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
period.  Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any adjustments necessary are reported in 
earnings in the period in which they become known.  Actual results could differ from these 
estimates.  The primary estimates made by management in these financial statements relate to 
accruals. 

3. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS 

Deferred contributions represent the amount of restricted contributions that are related to expenses of 
future periods. When expenses are incurred, the matching contribution will be recognized as revenue. 
At year end, $104,855 of the cash balance is restricted to be used for future programs. 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

CIRA Grant 74,255 -
Ontario Trillium Grant 28,600 -
Canada Summer Training Grant - 12,192 
Elgin-St Thomas Community Foundation Grant 1,000 -
Kinsmen Scholarship 1,000 2,000 

104,855 14,192 

4. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

The organization is committed to payments for property and service contracts with varying terms. 
Aggregate annual payments are as follows: 

$ 

2021 20,243 
2022 18,000 
2023 9,000 

47,243 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

5. CAPITAL ASSETS 

During the normal course of operations, the organization has purchased and expensed the following 
capital assets which would otherwise be capitalized and amortized under the alternative accounting 
policy: 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Office equipment - 2,480 
Program equipment 974 -

974 2,480 

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The organization is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments.  The following analysis 
provides information about the organization's risk exposure and concentration as of Tuesday, June 30, 
2020. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations.  The 
organization is exposed to credit risk from donors and customers, however, the nature and cycle 
of these obligations, and the number of donors and customers ensures that the organization's 
exposure to credit risk is minimized.  It is uncommon for the organization to have any outstanding 
amounts due from customers. 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities.  The organization is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt 
of funds from donors and customers and accounts payable.  The predictable and cyclical nature of 
the operating cycle reduces the organization's liquidity risk.  The organization manages budgets to 
adjust expenditures when shortfalls are expected. 
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STEAM EDUCATION CENTRES INCORPORATED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in the market prices.  Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.  The organization does not have any 
significant exposure to market risk. 

7. LINE OF CREDIT 

The organization has a line of credit facility with the Libro Credit Union.  The facility is to a 
maximum of $10,000 and bears interest at the prime rate of the Libro Credit Union plus 5.0%.  At 
year-end, $9,982 (2019 - $10,000) of the facility was available to use. 

8. CEBA LOAN 

During the year, the organization applied for the Canadian Emergency Business Account ("loan") 
from the Government of Canada and received the $40,000 advance from the Libro Credit Union. 
There are no repayment terms until December 31, 2022.  If the organization repays the loan before 
December 31, 2022, the Government of Canada has agreed to forgive up to 25% of the loan.  If loan 
is partially repaid by December 31, 2022 then the organization may enter into an arrangement with 
the Government of Canada to repay the balance. 

Principal repayments expected for the next five years: 
$ 

2021 -
2022 -
2023 40,000 

40,000 

9. BUDGET AMOUNTS 

The 2020 budget amounts are presented for information purposes only.  They were approved by the 
board of directors and are unaudited. 
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On behalf of the STEAM Education Centre Board, Staff and Students, it is a privilege 
to present to you our Annual Report for 2020-2021. This year, STEAM Education 
deepened its impact despite facing unprecedented adversity. Thanks to tremendous 
support and generosity from our network, we were able to quickly pivot to virtual 
program delivery in 2020, and add new programs to fuel curiosity and confidence in 
youth, building leadership and foundational skills in science, technology, 
engineering, art and math, contextualized to their communities and life experiences. 

Education Innovation Happens Here
Defying Odds, We’re Full STEAM Ahead!

The following pages detail the main programs that captured our mission driven focus, including:

❖ iSTEAM - a participatory project with Chippewa of the Thames First Nation.
❖ STEAM Community Studio - a community engaged learning program prototyping new solutions to local problems.
❖ re//BUILD.IT Community - a computer donation program for students and low income families.
❖ STEAM Leaders - a learning, mentorship and leadership program for high school and post secondary students.
❖ Creating accessible educational Camps and Workshops for local learners - whether online or on paper.

As we look ahead to our fifth anniversary in October, we're incredibly grateful to our supporters for encouraging us to create 
advanced learning opportunities and introduce equity initiatives to reach underserved groups in our community. STEAM 
Education programs are creating meaningful, and long lasting impacts for students and community everyday. Thank you for 
supporting our mission and a vision for education innovation across Elgin - St. Thomas.

Sincerely,
Jessica Gransaull
Executive Director
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iSTEAM

iSTEAM began in 2020 with Antler River Elementary School, Chippewa of the Thames First 
Nation as a participatory pilot project. iSTEAM explores our concept of incorporating 
Indigenous arts, culture, land and stories with hands-on projects using emerging technology 
and traditional hand tools to inspire digital skill development, educational achievement and 
personal growth. Each week of school, up to sixty students in grades 5-8 and 5 teachers 
participate in iSTEAM workshops using proprietary work plans and material kits. iSTEAM 
projects are interactive, FUN, culturally relevant to Indigenous people, and directly connected 
to the Ontario curriculum learning goals.

Indigenous Ways of Knowing and STEAM Education

“During these maddening times, the STEAM projects were amazing because they 
gave students the opportunity to do hands-on activities, and even when we were 
teaching virtually, we were all able to work on the projects together; two of my 
students even started to teach me how to bead while we were online, and this 
fostered an environment of student-lead learning and community. I think that the 
biggest success of these kits within the context of a covid19 school year is that they 
helped bring students together.”
~ Ashley, Teacher at Antler River Elementary School

Meet iSTEAM educator, Dakota, and learn more about iSTEAM with this short video!

iSTEAM was generously supported by Canadian Internet Registration Authority and Ontario 
Trillium Foundation in 2020, and we aspire to grow iSTEAM to include additional schools and 
students including Standing Stone Elementary School, Oneida Nation.
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STEAM Community Studio

STEAM Community Studio is a community engaged learning program for 
students to design new solutions to real-world problems in their 
communities. Through research, design thinking and prototyping activities, 
students gain the exceptional ability to directly inform public policy 
discussions, support community members, municipalities, businesses, and 
organizations. In our first year, ninety-five students from 8 schools 
collaborated on 6 projects suggested by their community:

1. Creating a Community Reuse Centre for the City of St. Thomas.
2. Creating welcoming sensory spaces for Wellkin Child & Youth Mental 
Wellness Centre.
3. Creating a Virtual Marketplace for downtown businesses to build a stronger 
online presence with Downtown Development Board.
4. Creating an Audio and Video Production Studio for Youth Skill Building at 
Ignite Youth Centre.
5. Using live nesting cameras to inspire people to be stewards of the 
environment with Jaffa Environmental Centre.
6. Creating a multi-lingual ‘Smoke Detectors for Seniors’ public education 
campaign with the St. Thomas Fire Department.

This program was established with a visionary multi-year gift from the Estate of 
Donna Bushell within the Elgin - St. Thomas Community Foundation, and is set 
to kick off the the second year in September 2021.

“STEAM Community Studio is an excellent 
example of a Community Engaged 
Learning (CEL) community partner. In the 
course, students have been able to take 
their classroom knowledge and apply it to 
real-world community problems. STEAM 
Studio has provided students with an 
exceptional experience and new 
perspectives on the impact of nonprofits in 
our community through a close 
collaboration with Denise and Fred (and 
others!). The St. Thomas Re-use centre is 
such an amazing idea and it will 
undoubtedly have significant positive 
societal and environmental impacts.”

Denise Grafton, PH. D Assistant Professor
Department of Geography & Department of 
Health Studies
Western University

Students Creating Real Solutions
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STEAM Leaders
Fostering Learning and Leadership
STEAM Leaders is an advanced student placement and co-operative program for forward-thinking people who 
want to fortify their education and future pursuits. Each year, we welcome 12-15 high school and post 
secondary students into the program, who learn how to use our collection of technology and education tools, 
practice using prototyping tools, are mentored by industry experts, and have opportunities to lead younger 
students alongside the STEAM Education team.

From July 2020 to July 2021, despite the pandemic and restraints on learning, 16 students devoted more than 
6200 hours to skill building, creating superlative content for future STEAM programs, fundraising for the 
organization and many other leadership activities across STEAM Education programs. With more interest in 
this program than ever before from students and schools, we anticipate expanding the program this year to 
include up to 20 student Leaders.

89

https://www.steameducation.ca/school-programs.html#/


re//BUILD.IT Community
Computer Donation Program
re//BUILD.IT Community launched in July 2020 to support students, Indigenous 
communities and families with limited funds who lost access to a computer when their 
schools, centres and libraries closed due to the pandemic.

Selected by Future of Good as a Top 100 Recovery Project helping Canada build back 
better, re//BUILD.IT Community collects desktop and laptop computer donations from local 
businesses, organizations and people, to refurbish and donate the essential devices to 
vulnerable people living digitally stranded without a home computer.

To date, re//BUILD.IT Community has donated more than 235 computers to people who 
could not otherwise afford to acquire a device to communicate, learn, work, and function 
from home. Based on demand, we anticipate donating at least 300 computers in 2021.

re//BUILD.IT Community began with generous technology donations from the community, 
and financial support from United Way Elgin-Middlesex/Government of Canada, Elgin 
County, Kinsmen Club of St. Thomas, Elgin Business Resource Centre and Green Lane 
Trust.

“We strongly support this program and the focus on reducing disparities among 
barriered communities by keeping them connected and reducing the digital 
divide. As an organization this program has greatly supported the youth 
demographic in which we work by providing access to technology that allows 
our participants to continue to engage and learn through online means.” 

~ Justin McGuire, Job Placement Specialist, Youth Opportunities Unlimited
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Reimagining Camps and Workshops
Engaging Every Learner Where They Are
When most public programs for kids were cancelled in 2020, STEAM Education was 
approached to create four weeks of ‘summer camp at home’ for children supported by Family 
and Children’s Services. We brought our award winning camp experience to kids 4-16 years 
old with fully accessible instructions, considering those with and without access to a 
computer or internet. Camp was a success and with our new learning management system in 
place, we were set to take on delivering a phenomenal asynchronous summer Camp@Home 
experience for kids in 2021.

Secondary and postsecondary student Leaders worked to create five days of hands-on 
activities for two themes. Bold Biology campers explored topics like microbiology by making 
petri dishes to grow bacteria, and physiology by constructing a circuit model of the 
circulatory system. Super STEAM campers became system architects and envisioneers, 
using art forms like sun printing to create blueprints and designing a mechanical automaton. 
The activities were so fun, most campers reported the whole family joining in!
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What are people saying about the 
STEAM Education Centre?
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Thank you!
jessica@steameducation.ca
226-212-0048

shawn@southernfamily.ca
226-212-0048

Jessica Gransaull
Executive Director

Shawn Southern
Board Chair
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July 6, 2021 
Youth Opportunities Unlimited 
333 Richmond St. 
London, ON 

To whom it may concern, 

I write on behalf of Youth Opportunities Unlimited in support of the STEAM Centre 
re//BUILD.IT Community computer donation program that ensures every low income and/or 
at risk person within 150km of the STEAM Centre can receive a free computer to help with 
issues of isolation and vulnerability. 

We strongly support this program and the focus on reducing disparities among barriered 
communities by keeping them connected and reducing the digital divide. 

As an organization this program has greatly supported the youth demographic in which we 
work by providing access to technology that allows our participants to continue to engage 
and learn through online means. 

We typically work with a wide range of youth but many face financial barriers and/or are on 
financial assistance such as Ontario Works, CAS, or ODSP. This program has allowed for 
many to continue to access our services – many of which have had to move to an online 
setting during the past 18 months. This includes services related to employment such as 
online workshops, interviewing with potential employers, and meeting for personal supports. 

The program will further allow the success of many individual youth as it allows them to 
maintain connection to others, potential other services and service providers or access to 
further learning and educational opportunities. 

We look forward to continuing to work with STEAM Centre in providing technological 
support and resources to the community. 

Sincerely, 

Justin McGuire 
Job Placement Specialist 
Youth Opportunities Unlimited 
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Wednesday, September 22, 2021 

Jessica Gransaull 
Steam Education 
Rebuild it Program 

Subject: Acknowledgment of Successes 

Dear Jessica, 

On behalf of the Vocational Rehabilitation Program at Canadian Mental Health Association 
Thames Valley Addiction and Mental Health Services, we wish to acknowledge the outcomes of our 
clients, as a result of your program. 

The pandemic came last year in March 2020, and immediately altered the way we could provide 
services to our clients within the vocational rehabilitation program. The program needed to find a way to 
be able to reach out to clients and be able to continue to achieve goals. This is when I stumbled across an 
AD on 94.1 My FM that stated that Steam Education was providing virtual supports with donated 
laptops/desktops. 

Since the partnership with Rebuild it program was created, our clients have found access to 
working on their individual goals. One year ago I had 15 clients that had no ability to connect virtually. 
Rebuild it provided laptops and desktops to all referrals and continues to provide ongoing donations of 
laptops/desktops to our clients today. This allows clients the ability to access programs internally and 
externally, academic development, job development and virtual 1:1 meetings.  

Good News Story, one person that obtained a laptop which provided access to finishing his last 
credit towards his OSSD, he graduated in the spring of 2020, when I supported him with this process he 
was so excited that he actually accomplished this goal, he had a very happy squeal that I will never forget. 
He then moved onto job search which required Smart Serve Online for which he accomplished virtually, 
then he completed Youth Job Connect Online which resulted in a part time job that he continues to thrive 
at today. 

In closing, your program in connection with our program has found success as a result of access 
to resources in community virtually. Jobs have been found, academic achievements have been completed, 
and ongoing support via the virtual world as brought opportunities. Individuals that live in poverty have 
seen change in their lives that has bettered their basic needs moving towards self-actualization, 
confidence and success. With gratitude and humble acknowledgments from our program and supported 
people, I would like to thank Steam Education. 

Regards, 

Michelle Crocker RSSW (pronouns: she, her, hers) 
Vocational Rehabilitation Mental Health Worker 

95



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

Community Grant Program (CGP) 

Final Report 2021 

Background  

Tillsonburg & District Multi-Service Centre Organization: ___________________________________________________ 

Primary Contact: 

Email: __________________________________________________ kleatherland@multiservicecentre.com 

519-842-9008 x.274 Phone: _________________________________________________ 

Please tell us which grant you received (check one): 
Community Services – Seed Grant 
Community Services – Cultivate Grant 
Festival and Events – Seed Grant 
Festival and Events – Cultivate Grant 

✔ 

How much funding did you receive from Elgin County in support of your program:  $_______________ 2,207 

1.) Please briefly describe the program/service/festival/event that was funded through the Community 
Grant Program (CGP). 

The Multi-Service Centre is a charitable organization providing excellence in employment, literacy and home support services to 
Oxford, Norfolk and Elgin communities through partnerships and innovation that allow others to embrace their personal 
independence. 

Multi-Service Centre Employment and Literacy services provide training and support to help people develop new skills and secure 
employment. MSC Home Support Services help seniors and people with disabilities to maintain their independence through meal 
delivery, transportation to medical appointments and home support. 

Supplies 
Volunteer expenses 
Professional fees 
Direct Program Expenses 

2.) Please confirm how this funding was used (please select all that apply): 

✔ 

✔ 

✔ 

Comments: 

The MSC is grateful for the continued support from Elgin County. Last year, the MSC was the successful recipient of a $2,207 community grant. 
These grant dollars supported volunteer on-boarding (materials, technology, supports), the purchase of materials and technology for the adult 
literacy program students and helped to subsidize client fees in transportation and meals for needy individuals. Without these funds the 
Multi-Service Centre would not have been able to assist clients in financial need with the client fees for meals and transportation. Without the 
financial support to provide for the needs of continuing and new volunteers, programs that rely on volunteers to deliver service would not have 
been able to deliver as much service to clients as they did. During the pandemic the Multi-Service Centre has experienced an increase in 
demand for services and has met those needs. The Multi-Service Centre's grant application supported our community programs, specifically the 
Adult Literacy and Basic Skills, Home Support and Employment Services programs. Grant funds were used to support our clients to reach their 
goals whether this is for a senior to remain living in their own home or a literacy client to reach their learning employment goals. 
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3.) Please confirm that the CGP funding was NOT used for the following: operating expenses 
(staffing/wages/benefits); capital projects; deficit reductions; or retroactive activity/program/event. 

✔ I confirm that CGP was not used for the aforementioned items. 
I’m not sure. 

 Please indicate which expenses you are unsure of, and provide an explanation in the 
comments section. 

Operating Expenses 
Capital Projects 
Deficit reductions 
Retroactive activity/program/event 

I cannot confirm that CGP was not used for the aforementioned items. 

Comments: 

Each year, our non-profit organization receives core funding from various government bodies, however it 
does not cover all program costs. We rely greatly on donations and grant funds to enhance and expand 
current programs to meet the needs of our growing and changing community. Many of our programs rely 
on volunteers to deliver services. Grant funds will support volunteer activities (recruitment, training, 
orientation), the purchase of materials and technology (for literacy tutors and students, technology devices 
for clients to support remote learners and items in our seniors related programs), subsidizing client fees for 
service provision such as transportation to medical appointments and meals for needy individuals and the 
purchase of personal protective equipment to help keep our clients, volunteers and community safe. 

4.) Please briefly describe how successful your program/service/festival/event was.   

The Multi-Service Centre has continued to deliver Home Support, Employment & Literacy 
services to our community every day throughout the pandemic. Although we were 
required to modify how we delivered service to meet provincial safety guidelines, we 
continued to deliver the programs and were NOT closed to clients even for one day. 

Please see stats below. 

5.) Please describe how successful you were in reaching your target audience (provide details if 
possible, i.e. number of participants). 

Last fiscal year, we supported 176 Employment Services clients, 9 Adult Literacy clients and 40 Home Support clients from Elgin County. Throughout Norfolk, Oxford and Elgin Counties combined, MSC supported: 

HOME SUPPORT SERVICES - 15,283 Meals on Wheels Meals Delivered to 170 Clients 
2,954 Transportation Drives for 195 Clients 
24,369 Assisted Living Hours to 61 Clients 
1,003 Homemaking Hours for 84 Clients 
1,754 Footcare Sessions for 470 Clients 

EMPLOYMENT SERVICES - 14 Employers updated the skills of 51 employees through the Canada-Ontario Job Grant 
78% of our Employment Services clients completed service with successful outcomes 
81% successful outcomes for participants of Youth Job Connection & YJC Summer programs 
66 Youth have attended 4 Get Connected Youth Network Events (funded by RBC) 
55 Employers have received Training Incentives for Job placements 

LITERACY SERVICES - 84 Students accumulating 2,255 hours of contact 
30 Volunteers totaling 511 hours 
100% + customer satisfaction 
63% successful learner progress (Target = 60%) 
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6.) Please tell us whether your program/service/festival/event was successful targeting areas of the 
County facing greatest need or greatest inequities. 

�The Literacy Basic Skills program ended the fiscal year on a high note – meeting all 
performance targets as set by the funder, the Ministry of Labour, Training and Skills 
Development (MLTSD). This past year, the program received 100% customer 
satisfaction. Home Support services exceeded targets and maintain a busy program 
schedule of transportation, meals on wheels, grocery buddy program, and the personal 
shopper program all supported by our generous volunteers. Employment services 
continued to support clients throughout the challenges presented by the pandemic. 

7.) Please describe how impactful your program/service/festival/event was (i.e. number of participants, 
user impact statements, etc.) 

Last fiscal year, we supported 176 Employment Services clients, 9 Adult Literacy clients and 40 Home Support clients from Elgin County. 

"You all helped me so much through a very difficult time. And you really took the time to listen to me." - Employment Services Client 

"They were able to help me find employment not once, but twice, showing just how dedicated the folks at the Youth Job Connection (YJC) are to their mission 
statement. I can't recommend the program enough." - Joseph K, Youth Job Connection Client 

"The YJC program helped me realize my passion and the skills necessary to pursue it successfully. Without participating in YJC, I can truly say I would not have found 
the clarification and reassurance that I have purpose, nor would I have become the person I am today!" - Lynn M, Youth Job Connection Workshop Participant 

"I want to thank each and every one of my PSW's who take care of me in my home. They do not realize what they mean to me, they are all doing a fine job. . . " - Home 
Support Client 

"With my new skills, I was able to create and read a speech for both of my sons’ weddings." - Ben, Literacy Client 

8.) Did your program/service/festival/event increase participation and engage persons with disabilities? 

✔ Yes. Please tell us how in the comments section. 
No. Please tell us why you weren’t able to accomplish this in the comments section. 
Not sure. Please explain in the comments section. 

Comments: 

The Multi-Service Centre supports a wide variety of individuals from our community: 
youth, adult and seniors. Many of our clients are facing physical disabilities, especially in 
our home support program. Others may be experiencing learning disabilities or addiction. 
When clients are onboarded, a personalized plan is developed to support them in 
achieving their goals. 
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9.) Please tell us whether your program/service/festival/event followed the schedule and key dates that 
you identified in your application.  Please provide additional information/explanation if you made 
changes to the schedule and key dates.  

The Multi-Service Centre has continued to deliver Home Support, Employment & Literacy 
services to our community every day throughout the pandemic. Although we were 
required to modify how we delivered service to meet provincial safety guidelines, we 
continued to deliver the programs and were not closed to clients even for one day. 

10.)Please let us know how the CGP supported the following: 

✔ Continued capacity of your organization; 
✔ Contribution to the sector; and  
✔ Your organization’s ability to achieve funding priorities and outcomes. 

Comments: 

Last fiscal year, we supported 176 Employment Services clients, 9 Adult Literacy clients 
and 40 Home Support clients from Elgin County. Through these services, clients were 
able to achieve meaningful employment, upgrade literacy skills and maintain their 
independence as seniors while aging in place. 

11.)Please attach a financial statement with actual program/service/festival/event costs.   

12.)Please attach or detail all available metrics or statistics that you used to measure the success of your 
program. 

13.)CULTIVATE ONLY: How successful were the changes you made to your 
program/service/festival/event? 

Although we were required to modify how we delivered service to meet provincial safety guidelines, we continued to deliver the programs and were not closed to clients even 
for one day. 

There were times during the pandemic where we closed to in-person adult literacy services in support of the provincial effort to limit the spread of COVID-19. However, we 
continued to meet with clients virtually so they could make progress on their learning goals. This included via telephone, text, email and virtual meeting platforms. If a learner 
required an electronic device we were able to loan them one out of the device loaning program we started. Similar to literacy services, employment services performed the 
same way. 

We also modified how we delivered meals to seniors in order to limit the physical contact between the volunteers delivering the food and the seniors in an effort to keep all 
parties safe. Many seniors received foot care services at a clinic location. We offered those seniors the option to receive foot care in their home instead of at the clinic if the 
client felt that was a safer option for them. 
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14.)How likely is your organization to apply for CGP funding in 2021? 

✔ Very likely 
Unlikely 
Not sure 
Other: ____________________________________________________________________ 

15.)  Optional – Please attach any supplemental information (e.g. organizational year end reports) to this 
application. 

Declaration: 

I confirm that the information provided in this report is true, complete, and accurate. I understand that all 
materials submitted as part of this final report will be shared publicly to ensure accountability and 
transparency. 

Authorized Signature(s) (two (2) needed if not incorporated): 

Kathryn Leatherland Name: _________________________________________ 

Executive Director Position: _______________________________________ 

Signature: ______________________________________ 

Jen Olcsvary Name: _________________________________________ 

Position: _______________________________________ 

Signature: ______________________________________ 

Fundraising & Community Engagement Coordinator 
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Building a community of inclusiveness, innovation and 
independence together 
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M U L T I S E R V I C E C E N T R E . C O M  P A G E  0 3  

B O A R D  U P D A T E  

Fran Bell - Board Chair 

    Last year, as I prepared the 
message for the Annual Report, I 
remarked that we were in the 
middle of a pandemic. Little did I 
know or think that we would still 
be in that same pandemic a year 
later! We have learned a lot in the 
past year, and been able to find 
new and creative ways of 
delivering our core services in a 
safe and sustainable way. I am so 
very proud of our staff and 
volunteers who have continued 
throughout this past year to 
deliver services to our clients 
under very difficult circumstances. 
Thank you so much for your 
dedication and commitment to 
those we serve.
   In order to ensure that our 
services were delivered in a safe 
environment for our staff, 
volunteers and clients, the MSC 
Covid Safety Plan was developed. 
It is focused on safety and the 
redesign of programs to better 
meet the needs of our clients in 
this rapidly changing world. For 

instance, staff were able to find new 
ways to deliver a number of 
programs, including online exercise 
programs that gained attention 
throughout Southwestern Ontario. 
Congratulations!
   Throughout this pandemic staff 
have strived to continue to provide 
the services and level of care our 
clients expect. Unfortunately, some 
services have had to be postponed 
at times such as foot care clinics. 
However, essential services such as 
Meals on Wheels, housekeeping, in-
home footcare and home visits for 
clients in the Assisted Living program 
have continued with the necessary 
safety protocols in place.
   Employment and literacy services 
were being provided virtually all year 
and in-person when provincial 
requirements allowed. 
   Client satisfaction is a top priority 
for the MSC. I am pleased that 
overall satisfaction with our 
programs – particularly Foot Care 
and Transportation have met or 
exceeded the 95% target, even 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Board Chair Fran Bell 
Vice Chair & Fundraising Chair Val Foerster
Treasurer  Marian Muth
Director  David Morris 
Director Helen Lamos-Parker
Director  Lynda Van De Maele

during the pandemic!
  This has been an unprecedented 
year as staff, the Leadership 
Team and volunteers have had to 
learn new ways of doing things, 
often on very short notice. As we 
move into post-pandemic days, I 
am confident that the lessons 
learned this past year of 
resilience and flexibility will stand 
the MSC in good stead moving 
forward.
   On behalf of the Board, thank 
you to all of the staff and 
Leadership Team for their tireless 
commitment to the community 
and our clients. Thank you to 
each and every volunteer who 
gave of their time and expertise 
to assist our clients. You are the 
backbone of our organization! 
And finally, thank you to the 
Board of Directors who use their 
skills, knowledge and expertise to 
continue moving the organization 
forward. 

119

http:MULTISERVICECENTRE.COM


M U L T I S E R V I C E C E N T R E . C O M  P A G E  0 4  

E D  U P D A T E  

Kathryn Leatherland - MSC Executive Director 

   As we look back on the past 
year, I am inspired by all the 
MSC’s accomplishments. The 
MSC started out the year with a 
refreshed Mission and Vision 
statement and a renewed 
Strategic Plan. We have focused 
on strengthening our 
organizational capacity by 
building stronger connections 
with our clients, partners, and 
the community as a whole. We 
have concentrated on fostering 
the exceptional talent of our 
staff and volunteers to offer high 
quality programs that are 
reflective of the needs of our 
community. This focus has 

resulted in incredible success in 
our programs, even as we 
repeatedly changed how we 
operate in response to the 
evolving pandemic. Out of this 
varying environment, the MSC 
responded to emerging needs 
in our community with new 
programs so that all people in 
our society had the opportunity 
to be safe and realize their full 
potential. 
   None of this would have been 
possible without our inspiring 
staff, volunteers, and 
community supporters. I am 
fortunate to work alongside a 
team of uplifting individuals who 
have so much caring and 
respect for our clients. The 
pandemic caused people to be 
concerned for their own safety 
and these individuals 
 responded by learning how to 
keep themselves safe then 

continuing to step forward, day 
after day, to support the 
clients relying on the MSC. A 
special thanks to our volunteer 
Board of Directors who 
provided insightful governance 
through this extraordinary time 
as well as to our funders 
(Ontario Ministry of Health and 
Ministry of Labour, Training, 
and Skills Development) and 
donors who showed their 
confidence in the work we do 
by providing much needed 
resources. 
   I begin the 2021-22 year with 
hope and optimism as the MSC 
continues to pursue its vison of 
“Building a community of 
inclusiveness, innovation and 
independence together.” 
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M U L T I S E R V I C E C E N T R E . C O M  P A G E  0 5  

A B O U T  T H E  M S C  

Since 1978, the MSC has been providing high quality employment, literacy 
and home support services to those in need. 

We are an accredited, non-profit, charitable organization dedicated to 
promoting high quality accessible community services in Oxford, Elgin 

and Norfolk Counties. 

Mission 
The Multi-Service Centre is a charitable organization providing excellence in 

employment, literacy and home support services to Oxford, Norfolk and 
Elgin communities through partnerships and innovation that allow others 

to embrace their personal independence. 

Vision Values 
Building a Community Collaboration 

of inclusiveness, Diversity 

innovation and Integrity 

independence Respect 

together. Quality 

Governance 
MSC is governed by community minded people who are 

committed to enhancing the accessibility and availability of our 
services. The Board ensures the organization maintains high 

standards of accountability. 
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M U L T I S E R V I C E C E N T R E . C O M  P A G E  0 6  

H O M E  S U P P O R T  

Diana Handsaeme - Director of Home Support Services

   Evolving to meet the needs of 
our clients and community is our 
daily mantra as we provide 
services to our seniors and adults 
with disabilities through this 
current pandemic. We hold 
steadfast in our commitment in 
providing community support 
services that assist in maintaining 
our clients’ independence and 
connectedness to our 
community. This has been a 
challenging year with the 
Provincial Governments many 
directives and orders to keep our 
community safe during COVID-19. 
   Our Assisted Living in the 
Community (ALCom) program 
supports 50 high risk frail seniors 
and adults with disabilities to live 
independently in our 
communities. The importance of 
daily contact especially during this 
pandemic, permitted our frontline 

 staff and volunteers to support 
the physical and emotional 
wellbeing of clients during this 
time when family could not be 
near through socialization and in-
home exercise visits.
   A Telephone Reassurance 
Program was created for clients 
preferring phone calls. A 
Volunteer would call and speak 
with them at an agreed upon day 
and time. The consensus is 
unanimous that both benefit from 
this interaction.
   Our Meals on Wheels program 
has grown exponentially during 
this time-period. Nutritional 
wellbeing has been a concern 
during this pandemic for  clients 
who may not feel comfortable 
going out to buy groceries. We 
received various grants enabling 
us to provide subsidies to lower 
our meal prices.   

   We established partnerships 
with other community leaders for 
distribution of grocery gift cards 
to low-income seniors and adults 
with disabilities in our community.    
The high demand for frozen 
meals provided the opportunity to 
work with three new local food 
providers. Client satisfaction is 
high in variety and taste of our 
meals and the friendly volunteers 
who deliver them. The Grocery 
Buddy Program provides the 
opportunity to work with a local 
grocer for ordering and our 
volunteers delivering groceries to 
clients in our community. 
   The transportation program 
received a second wheelchair van 
from our funder. This supports 
the increased demand for 
wheelchair transportation. We 
never stopped providing essential 
medical drives for our clients. 
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H O M E  S U P P O R T  

Diana Handsaeme - Director of Home Support Services 

   We participated in pilot projects 
for transportation and transition 
from hospital to home in 
partnership with our funders and 
other health care providers. The 
opportunity for collaboration and 
partnership with other 
Community Support Services 
organizations has been a positive 
experience in operationalizing 
these projects.
   Southwestern Public Health 
assists us in ensuring our 
infection control practices support 
our delivery of services in keeping 
staff and clients safe. Foot Care 
and housekeeping services are 
examples of this. Our clients value 
the assistance in maintaining their 
homes, as well as enjoying good 
foot health in the home and clinic 
setting. 
   I admire the resilience, 
commitment and support of our 
Community Workers and 
volunteers in ensuring our 
services continue to our most 
vulnerable populations during 
COVID-19. They're our unsung 
heroes who quietly go about their 
business and are pillars in our 
communities. It is a privilege and 
honor to support and serve the  

needs of our community. Our MSC 
vision of building a Community of 
inclusiveness, innovation and 
independence together has been 
demonstrated daily over the past 
year, as we continue to look 
optimistically to the future. 

HOME SUPPORT FACTS 
15,283 Meals on Wheels Meals Delivered to 170 Clients 

2954 Transportation Drives for 195 Clients 
24,369 Assisted Living Hours to 61 Clients 

1003 Homemaking Hours for 84 Clients 
1754 Footcare Sessions for 470 Clients 

VOLUNTEER NUMBERS 
HOT Meals On Wheels volunteers gifted us approximately 
1560 hrs for Tillsonburg, 1040 hrs for Norwich and 416 hrs 
for Straffordville of their time per month. 
Our Frozen Meal Program volunteers have gifted us 1040 
hrs in the past year for delivery of frozen meals and 832 
hours for picking up meals. 
Since the Personal Shopper program began 6 months ago, 
our volunteers have gifted us 70 hours of their time. 
Grocery Buddy volunteers gifted us approximately 6 hrs 
per week for transportation of goods. 
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E M P L O Y M E N T  

Jennifer Siple - Director of Employment Services (Acting) 

   The past year was one of service was not an option. 
many ‘firsts’ for the MSC’s Our strong connections with 
Employment Services Team! community resources have 
As in communities across ensured that staff have been 
the country, we have able to support the needs of 
struggled with COVID- 19. those who come to us, and 

together we meet clients Nonetheless, we responded 
where they are. The MSC quickly, finding new ways to 

provide support when it was 
needed the most. Technology and 
the adaptability of our team have 
played the starring roles in the 
transformation of service 
provision that we’ve made. If 
there has been a silver lining to 
COVID, it would be the proficiency 
our staff have developed in 
providing remote and virtual 
service.This has been a positive 
outcome for the rural population 
in our service area, and those 
experiencing transportation 
challenges. 
   In partnership with CES Oxford 
and County Economic 
Development offices, the MSC 

hosted the inaugural Oxford County 
Virtual Job Fair with great success! 
Together with area employers, we 
also hosted virtual job information 
sessions in order to reach area job 
seekers. With the spotlight on virtual 
experiences, the MSC has 
responded to the needs of our 
clients by offering a technology loan 
program in order to ensure that 
everyone has the opportunity to 
participate in the job market. 
   The dedication and passion of the 
Employment Services team has 
been more evident than ever before 
over the past year. We’ve gone the 
extra mile to be available and 
responsive, even when walk in 

EMPLOYMENT SERVICES FACTS 

believes in walking beside our 
clients. 
   Finally, our RBC Youth VIP 
program has continued 
throughout the pandemic, with 
enthusiastic participation coming 
from virtual locations across our 
service area. Staff creatively 
coordinated dinner delivery for 
attendees and youth have 
enjoyed a variety of guest 
presentations and the 
opportunity to connect with old 
and new acquaintances. 
Informative talks, engaging staff 
and guests have made for a very 
successful year of networking for 
area youth. We’re here for you! 

14 Employers updated the skills of 51 employees through the Canada-Ontario Job Grant 
78% of our ES Assisted Service clients completed service with successful outcomes 
81% successful outcomes for participants of  Youth Job Connection & YJC Summer programs 
66 Youth have attended 4 Get Connected Youth Network Events (funded by RBC) 
Of our new ES Assisted Service intakes, 22% were under 30, 38% were 30-44 and 40% were 44 years & up 
55 Employers have received Training Incentives for ES Job placements 
63% of the Employers we worked with were those with 11-50 employees 
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L I T E R A C Y  

Maureen Vandenberghe - Literacy & Basic Skills Coordinator

   MSC’s LBS program ended the 
fiscal year meeting all performance 
targets except participant 
numbers. The program continues 
to measure high levels of Learner 
Satisfaction and Suitability. A key 
marker of program success is 
student goal achievement – with 
students reaching 63% of Learner 
Progress markers (60% was the 
target). 
   Instructors, volunteers, and 
students utilized remote and 
online delivery as much as 
possible, book-ended by periods of 
1-1 delivery with safety protocols in 
place. The MSC Safety Plan created 
a framework for program 
personnel and students over the 
course of the year with individuals 
participating in required training 
and signing Acknowledgement 
Forms.

   Important activities included 
creating secure electronic files, 
email lists and accessible 
resources. Assessment of students 
and volunteers also adapted to 
include detailed questions about 
available devices, reliable internet 
and/or support at home to use 
technology. It has been a difficult 
year for individuals living in remote, 
rural areas lacking technology, 
access to internet and at low skill 
levels. 
   Program personnel worked on 
securing a pool of loanable 
devices, curated a Technology Tool 
Chart to provide guidance to staff 
and volunteers on acceptable 
platforms and resources, and 
developed an electronic lesson site 
document. An exciting project for 
the 2021-22 fiscal will be bar-
coding the materials in the Literacy 
Library. 
   Improving technology skills and 
capacity remains an important 
component of both service delivery 
and skills training. Support 
organizations such as Literacy Link 
South Central, AlphaPlus, ABC Life 
Canada and Community Literacy 
Ontario assisted sites with timely 
information on resources and 
training. 

   In a year marked by the concept 
of ‘distancing,’ some types of 
contact were increased. Weekly 
online meetings between staff 
members assisted transition 
efforts. Volunteer tutors meet 
online monthly and receive an e-
letter containing resources and 
updated electronic lesson 
materials. 
   Thank you to MSC Employment 
Services and Fanshawe College for 
their steady stream of referrals to 
the program, instructors Sara 
(Tillsonburg), Jennifer and Peter 
(Woodstock), and the volunteer 
tutors, for their dedication to the 
students in the program. 

LITERACY FACTS 
84 Students accumulating 2,255 
hours of contact 
30 Volunteers totaling  511 hours 
100% + customer satisfaction 
50% were referred to other support 
services 
63% successful learner progress 
(Target = 60%) 
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F I N A N C I A L S  

Chris Riley - Director of Operations 

2020-21 Annual Operating 
Budget: $4,746,702 

Multi-Service Centre derives 

89% of its funds through 

provincial funding that includes 

contracts with the Local Health 

Integration Network (LHIN) and 

Ministry of Labour, Training 

and Skills Development 

(MLTSD). These contracts 

include several programs that 

have very different client 

eligibility, method of funding, 

targets and reporting 

requirements. In addition to 

these contracts for client 

services the MSC has revenue 

from fees associated with 

programs, grants, one-time 

projects, municipal support, 

donations and fundraising. 
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O U R  T E A M  

Jennifer Siple - Organizational Development Manager 

   The MSC is committed to fostering exceptional protocols in place prior to COVID that our home 
people and teams. Despite the challenges of support staff were all familiar with. Building upon 
remote work, we have maintained a healthy work- that, the Organizational Development department 
life balance and supported team members in a created a COVID-19 Safety Plan that has guided 
number of innovative and creative ways!      operations and detailed our protocols for all staff.      
   Over the past We reacted quickly 
year, staff had the to the provincial lock 
opportunity to down with a Remote 
participate in Work Procedure 
several health & enabling staff to 
wellness initiatives work from home 
that helped to safely while 
improve our maintaining business 
connections with continuity. We are so 
one another, while proud of the way our 
ensuring staff staff have all risen to 
safety. With a  the challenge to 
comprehensive ensure that our 
COVID Safety Plan as our guide, MSC staff found 
new and successful ways to engage with each 
other and the community we serve. 
   As a community healthcare organization, the MSC 
is fortunate to have had solid infection control 

community continues to receive the health, 
employment and literacy services they need! 

GO TEAM! GGGGOOOO TTTTEEEEAAAAMMMM!!!!
2020/21 STAFF INITIATIVES 

20-day Wellness Challenge 
Course Offering: Managing Mental Health During COVID-19 
Regular DIY Challenges 
“Quarantine” Cookbook with Staff Recipes 
Participaction Big Move 
Wellness Care Packages for Community Workers 
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V O L U N T E E R S  

"It's not how much we give, but how much love we put into 
giving" - Mother Teresa 

"Last week one client came 
out before I got out to get his 
meal and said thank you for 

all you do. His attitude of 
gratitude toward the people 
who deliver his meals made 

my day." 
- Meals on Wheels Volunteer 

"I always look forward to meetings 
with my tutor. She is always happy 

and full of energy. I have learned a lot 
about different words and can read 
better now. I can also do more with 

people in my life – like baking – 
because I can understand the 

instructions now. Even the grocery 
store is easier. It has really helped 

me." - Literacy Client 
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We thank you for your generous support and your desire to 
help us succeed! 

G R A N T S ,  D O N O R S  &  
S P O N S O R S H I P S  

Merie Adams 
Joan Adamson 

John & Adele Armstrong 
Dennis & Annette Arnold 

Laurel Beechy 
Francis J Bell 
Stella Black 

Georgette Bridle 
Donald & Sharon Brinn 

Bonnie Brown 
Sharon Bruce 

David Cartwright 
Patricia Cherneski 

Brian Columbia 
Linda & Robert Dawson 

Matthew Day 
Annette Demaiter 

Susan DeRoo 
Dianne Desplenter 

Ken & Cheryl Donais 
Lorne Drury 
Kathleen Ellis 

Deborah France 
Enid Geldart 
Lisa Gilvesy 

Jennifer Grant 
Margaret Grant 

Nancy Gucanin-Gazibaric 
John Haldane 

Theresa Hamilton 
Philip Harris 

Laura Hartley 
Margaret Hawkins 

Phyllis Helsdon 
Michelle Hesch 

Astrid Heye 
Russ Hislop 

Brent Hollister 
Ron Huffman 

Lovina Johnstone 
Joachim Knauer 

Lynne Lake 
Richard & Josephine Laplante 

Anna Lasanowski 
John & Liz Lessif 

Deb Losee 
Shirley Macey 
Mary Macleod 

George Maechelbergh 
Helen Manary 
Jane Marshall 

Richard McCabe 
David McCleary 

Margaret McCrimmon 
Julie McLaughlin 

Alice Moran 
Sara Mueller 

Victor Navickas 
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G R A N T S ,  D O N O R S  &  
S P O N S O R S H I P S

 Thank you for making a difference through your compassion 
and generosity. 

Karen Neal 
Douglas & Sophia Nevill 

Karen Ann Oke 
Peter Oliveira 
Carol Palmer 
Carol Parker 

Corine Petrochuk 
Terry & Linda Pierce 

Cheryl Porchak 
Bill Pratt 

Chris Riley 
Valya Roberts 
Allan Robson 

Susan Saunders 
Bob & Elaine Schelstraete 

Joe Scherer 
Margaret Smith 
Peter Southwel 
George Stock 
Carolyn Tarek 
Marilyn Truax 

Roger Van Eenoo 
Maureen Vandenberghe 

Arjun Vellore 
Darryl Verhoeve 
Georgina Vincent 

James Wallace 
William Walls 

Nancy Warren 

Nancy Warren 
Ronald Webb 

Joan (M.J.) Weston 
Sheryl Williams 
Janet Woynarski 

Ann Zilkey 
Bossy Nagy Group 

Coward PharmaChoice 
Dynamic Fluid Products Inc 

ISW Systems 
Lions Club Tillsonburg 

Tillsonburg District Real Estate Board 
Tillson Pizza 

Town of Tillsonburg 
Township of Norwich 

Norfolk County 
Elgin County 

Township of Southwest Oxford 
United Way Grant 

OCSA Grant - Ontario Community 
Support Program Emergency Relief and 

Capacity Enhancement Funding 
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C O N T A C T  I N F O  

Follow us on Social Media

    : 96 Tillson Avenue 
Tillsonburg ON N4G 3A1 

@ : info@multiservicecentre.com 

:  519-842-9000 

:  519-842-4727 

:  226-721-1114 

www.multiservicecentre.com 

Other Service Locations Include: 
Tillsonburg Town Centre: 200 Broadway, 2nd Floor 

Community Employment Services, Woodstock: 40 Metcalf 
Norfolk Community Help Centre, Langton: 707 Norfolk Cty. Rd 28 
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